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4th October 2022

Hon Roger Jaensch MP
Parliament House
Hobart
Tasmania 7000

Dear Minister

2021-22 ANNUAL REPORT OF THE ENVIRONMENT PROTECTION AUTHORITY

It is with great pleasure that we present you with the Annual Report of the Environment 
Protection Authority for the period 1 July 2021 to 30 June 2022.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of Section 21A of the 
Environmental Management and Pollution Control Act 1994.

Yours sincerely,
 

Andrew Paul
Chairperson
Board of the Environment Protection Authority 
 

Wes Ford
CEO and Director
Environment Protection Authority

Letter of Transmittal
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Chair’s Foreword
On behalf of the Board of the 
Environment Protection Authority it is my 
pleasure to introduce the 2021-2022 EPA 
Annual Report.

On December 1, 2021, a new era 
began for the EPA with its structural 
and organisational separation from 
the Department of Natural Resources 
and Environment Tasmania and its 
establishment as an independent State 
Authority. Legislative changes to the 
Environmental Management and Pollution 
Control Act 1994 to provide additional 
clarity on the EPA role, functions and 
independence are expected to be tabled 
in Parliament in the new financial year. 

The EPA will remain as Tasmania’s 
environmental assessment and regulatory 
body and will continue to be overseen by 
an independent Board.

The past year has seen no slowdown 
in the number of development 
proposals submitted to the EPA for 
consideration. There remain significant 
levels of proposed new activity in 
mining, renewable energy projects and 
major developments such as the new 
Bridgewater Bridge project. Projects of 
this kind require significant resources to 
assess, review, monitor and regulate.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to 
acknowledge and extend our thanks to 
the staff of the EPA for the outstanding 
contribution they have made to the 
EPA throughout the year in assessing, 
reviewing, and monitoring the many and 
varied proposals that have come before 
the EPA. Their expertise, advice, and 
commitment to their respective roles is 
greatly appreciated.

In 2022 the Board decided to commence 
a rolling audit program of reviewing 
previously approved developments. The 
purpose of the audit program is twofold. 
Firstly, to inform the EPA and Board 

on general compliance with approved 
conditions and secondly as a ‘learning’ 
exercise to potentially identify matters 
or issues that could be dealt with in a 
more practical environmentally effective 
manner. Such ‘learnings’ will better inform 
the EPA’s assessment and approvals 
processes for like developments into the 
future. 

In January of this year, at the Port of 
Devonport, a shipping collision resulted 
in the sinking at berth of two tugboats. 
The collision and sinking resulted in an 
immediate spill of approximately 10,000 
litres of diesel fuel and oil. Staff from 
the EPA incident management team, 
together with TasPorts, moved rapidly 
to contain the spill and to commence 
work removing it. In the ensuing period 
the spill was largely removed with little 
or no ongoing environmental impact. 
While contingency plans and exercises 
for events of this nature are regularly 
undertaken, it was deeply satisfying 
for the EPA. that when called upon to 
respond to this incident the planning, 
equipment, training, and resources 
required came together as planned to 
minimise environmental harm.

I would also like to extend my thanks 
to my fellow Board Members, Belinda 
Hazell OAM (Deputy Chair), Amanda 
Locatelli, Wes Ford (EPA Director), 
Dr Ian Cresswell and Mark Gifford 
(Deputy Member) for their knowledge, 
commitment, and support throughout 
the year. 

Within the pages of this report, you will 
discover much more about the role, 
functions, and activities of the EPA. I 
commend this report to you.

Andrew Paul
Chairperson
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Andrew Paul, EPA Board Chairperson presenting the 2021  
EPA Sustainability Award to the University of Tasmania
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The following report for 2021-22 covers 
the work on the Environment Protection 
Authority (EPA), including the Board, and 
highlights some of the achievements and 
activities undertaken across our key areas. 
A key announcement by the Government 
during 2021-22 was the organisational 
separation of the EPA from the 
Department of Natural Resources and 
Environment Tasmania (NRE Tas), creating 
a new independent State Authority as of 1 
December 2021.
The separation supports 
Recommendation 2 of PESRAC’s Final 
Report, which relates to improving 
environmental assessment processes 
and providing additional resources to 
undertake assessments.
With proposed changes to the 
Environmental Management and Pollution 
Control Act 1994, it is expected that the 
separation will also increase the integrity 
of environmental assessments in the 
future. 
The main change with the separation is 
that the EPA retains statutory assessment 
and regulation functions, with policy and 
Government-led functions remaining with 
NRE Tas. 
Other key changes for the EPA from the 
separation were:
•  The appointment of Darryl Cook as 

Director Finfish Compliance, a new 
position in line with Government 
commitments made in September 
2021, and the subsequent creation of 
the Salmon Environmental Regulation 
Division.

•   The creation of a new Director, 
Environmental Regulation position 
and realignment of the Operations 
teams along functional lines: Industrial 
Regulation and Contaminated Land 
and Waste Regulation. Cindy Ong was 
appointed to this position in February 
2022.

Together with Martin Read, Executive 
Director Environment Assessments, Darryl 
and Cindy bring a wealth of experience to 
the EPA Executive team.
As part of the re-organisation, I was 
pleased to be appointed to the new role 
of Chief Executive Officer of the EPA, as 
well as continue as EPA Director.
To ensure a physical separation from NRE 
Tas, during the year, staff in Launceston 
relocated to Henty House. Plans and 
building works are also underway for 
office relocations in Hobart, from the 
Lands Building to 40 Elizabeth Street, 
and premises have been secured on 
the ground floor of 33-35 Steele Street, 
Devonport for EPA staff located in the 
north-west.
In January 2022, staff of the EPA played a 
major role in the response to the Mersey 
River Marine Incident, which involved 
the collision between the commercial 
vessel MV Goliath and two berthed and 
stationary TasPorts tugs, Campbell Cove 
and York Cove. The quick response from 
TasPorts and the EPA prevented further 
environmental damage.
These types of responses always require 
a greater commitment of time and energy 
than first planned. I’d like to extend my 
thanks once again to staff for the hours 
they put in order to provide a rapid and 
effective response.

Together, we have achieved a huge amount 
of environmental work and progressed 
a number of important Government 
initiatives, all in the interests of protecting 
Tasmania’s environmental sustainability. 
Further information is provided in various 
sections of this Annual Report.
Finally, I wish to thank the EPA Board for 
its work over the past 12 months and 
acknowledge the dedicated work of the 
staff of the EPA.
Together with the Chair of the EPA Board, 
I am pleased to present the combined 
achievements of the EPA in the following 
report. I look forward to reporting on the 
progress of the EPA in 2022-23.

Wes Ford  
CEO

 

Wes Ford

CEO 

Chief Executive Officer’s Overview

The Year in Review
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Our Vision

A clean, healthy and sustainable Tasmania.

Our Purpose

To protect and enhance the quality of the 
Tasmanian environment in balance with 
economic and social values, and the needs 
of future generations.

Our Values

Objectivity

Our work is underpinned by scientific 
principles, objectivity, professional rigour 
and the best available information. We use 
contemporary science and technology to 
make informed decisions.
Independence

The EPA makes informed decisions based 
on sound evidence at a distance from 
Government. We answer to Parliament 
and the community for our performance.
Leadership

We make decisions to improve 
environmental outcomes that also 
support business and industry and the 
community. Opinions are expressed on 
significant issues where appropriate in 
order to influence Government policy and 
environmental goals.
Collaboration

We consult with, and listen to, a wide 
range of interests, views and stakeholders 
across the community. We value working 
in partnership with other agencies to 
improve decisions and outcomes.
Transparency

Working with the community and industry 
requires us to share our directions and 
achievements openly. It is important for us 
to show how and why we have made our 
decisions, and how we have delivered on 
our commitments.

Mission Statement

Professionalism

We strive to perform all our work 
to relevant professional standards for 
environmental management and pollution 
control, and to conduct ourselves in 
accordance with principles and rules 
established in the Tasmanian State Service 
Act 2000.

Our Goals

Clean Air

Air quality that protects the health and 
well-being of our community.

Clean Water

Water quality that supports the values and 
uses that our community, industries and 
economy require.

Clean Land

Land that is free of contaminants that 
would prevent its intended use or pollute 
the environment.

Healthy Noise

An environment in which noise is not 
unreasonably intrusive and does not 
compromise community health or  
well-being.

Sustainable Use of Resources

Development that supports a productive 
community and economy, while sustaining 
the potential of natural and physical 
resources to meet the needs of future 
generations.

 
Savage River Rehabilitation Project
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The Tasmanian Environment Protection 
Authority (EPA) was established as an 
independent statutory authority under the 
Environmental Management and Pollution 
Control Act 1994 (EMPCA) on 1 July 2008 
as an integral part of Tasmania’s Resource 
Management and Planning System.

The EPA consists of a Board, CEO and 
staff. The Board has an independent Chair, 
Deputy Chair and two other members 
alongside the Director.  

A Deputy member may be appointed if 
a Board member is unable to perform his 
or her duties for any reason. All members 
of the EPA Board are appointed based on 
their experience and expertise as set out 
in legislation (EMPCA), bringing knowledge 
of environmental management across a 
range of fields.

Statutory role

The EPA’s principal statutory role is to 
administer and enforce the provisions of 
the EMPCA, and in particular, to use its 
best endeavours to:

•  further the sustainable development and 
environmental management and pollution 
control objectives of the EMPCA

•  ensure that activities do not cause 
unacceptable pollution

•  advise the Minister on any matter that 
may significantly affect the achievement 
of the objectives of the EMPCA, and

•  ensure that economic instruments and 
issues are considered in policy and 
program implementation.

Responsibilities

The Board’s primary functions are to assess 
environmental impacts and determine 
appropriate operating conditions for the 
larger scale developments described in 
EMPCA. Other areas of responsibility 
include environmental agreements, audits, 
improvement programs, financial assurances, 
the Environment Protection Fund, the 
Savage River Rehabilitation Project, fee 
remissions and policy implementation.

The EPA Director has a range of functions 
and powers prescribed in EMPCA, 
including a number of powers exercised 
under delegation from the Board; and 
is also responsible for administering the 
Litter Act 2007 and the Marine-related 
Incidents (MARPOL Implementation) 

Act 2020. The Director is in charge of 
the day-to-day regulatory decisions in 
relation to larger scale (Level 2) industrial 
activities, contaminated sites and issues of 
environmental harm or nuisance.

The Board and Director make 
determinations independently of the 
Minister and elected Government. They 
are supported in their roles by the staff of 
the EPA (see Figure 1). This professional 
support is through the provision of advice 
– specialist, scientific, technical, regulatory 
and policy – along with the daily operation 
and activities of the EPA, which are 
reflected in this Report. These activities 
include assessing development proposals, 
setting environmental conditions and 
performance requirements, facilitating 
compliance and enforcement, responding 
to incidents and complaints, informing 
policy, collecting and analysing data, 
monitoring environmental quality, and 
promoting sustainability.

About the EPA

Who we are

 
Crushing and screening plant
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About the EPA

EPA Board
EPA Board Members

The members of the EPA Board are appointed on a skills basis as set down in legislation and bring knowledge and experience  
of environmental management across a range of fields.

The current Board membership commenced on 16 February 2021 and has remained unchanged throughout the 2021-22 reporting 
year. The members of the Board are Andrew Paul (Chairperson), Belinda Hazell (Deputy Chair), Amanda Locatelli (Member), Ian 
Cresswell (Member) and Wes Ford (Director). Mark Gifford is the Deputy Member and can act in the place of a Member at a meeting  
if a Member is not able to attend.

Remuneration and Expenditure for the EPA Board 

Total remuneration for the EPA Board for the period 1 July 2021 to 30 November 2021 was $56,966.43. This figure excludes remuneration 
paid to the EPA Director, which is reported in the financials of the NRE Tas Annual Report. The Chair of the EPA Board is paid $41,079 per 
annum and the members are paid $24,081 per annum. Deputy members are paid sitting fees as required, according to their attendance.

Other expenditure relating to the Board is as follows:

• Costs for site visit to Robbins Island $4,207.64

• Sponsorship of the Sustainability Award for the 2022 Tasmanian Community Achievement Awards $9,927.50

• Associated Meeting and Administrative Costs $270.20

Total payments for the EPA Board for the period 1 December 2021 to 30 June 2022 are included in the Financial Statements section  
of this Annual Report.

Statement of Expectation/Statement of Intent

It is a legislative requirement under EMPCA that the Minister provides the EPA Board with a Statement of Expectation (SoE), which sets 
out the Tasmanian Government’s objectives and priorities for the Board. The SoE may encompass any matter relating to the functions of 
the Board, but cannot prevent the Board from independently performing its statutory functions.The Board is required to respond to the 
Minister with a Statement of Intent (SoI) setting out how it will meet these expectations.

The most recent SoE and SoI were finalised on 28 March 2019 and 10 May 2019, respectively. Both documents are available on the EPA 
website. The SoI sets the blueprint for the Board’s objectives and includes performance measures. A report against each of these measures 
is provided in Table 1. It is expected that the next SoE will be finalised soon for the Board to respond with its SoI.

Andrew Paul   
(Chair)

Amanda Locatelli 
(Board Member)

Ian Cresswell 
(Board Member)

Wes Ford 
(Director)

Mark Gifford 
(Deputy Member)

Belinda Hazell
(Deputy Chair)
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Strategic Plan

The EPA’s Strategic Plan is focused on the strategic goals for clean air, clean water, clean land, healthy noise and sustainable resource use; 
and establishes the priorities, objectives and tasks consistent with the longer-term vision and purpose of the EPA.

The current Strategic Plan was finalised in November 2016 and is available on the EPA website.

The Draft Strategic Plan for 2022-26 has been prepared and endorsed by the Board and is awaiting finalisation.

General and Out of Session

During 2021-22 the EPA Board met formally for general Board meetings on 10 occasions. In addition, it held two out-of-session 
meetings. Table 2 lists attendance by Board members at these meetings over the period.

Table 1. EPA Board’s Performance Measures and Objectives

Objectives Performance Measures Assessment

Ensure the Board carries out 
its functions and activities 
in conformance with the 
requirements of the Act

Assessments completed within the 
timeframes required by the Act.

Twenty-one Level 2 assessments were completed, 6 by the 
Board and 15 under delegation. Two of these assessments 
were not completed within the statutory timeframe.

Board decisions not overturned 
because of incorrect procedures

Achieved

Ensure the Board’s decision 
making is independent, 
transparent and objective

Process in place to deal with conflicts 
of interest before they arise.

Achieved

No decisions overturned because a 
participating member had a conflict of 
interest.

Achieved

All decisions of the Board, Assessment 
Reports and the conditions set on 
permits published on the EPA website.

Achieved

Provide leadership and 
direction on matters of 
environmental quality and 
sustainability

Complete and publish a Strategic 
Plan for the Authority for the period 
2020/23.

Not achieved. Draft Strategic Plan for 2022-26 has been 
prepared and endorsed by the Board and is awaiting 
finalisation.

Address the specific matters 
and priority issues identified 
in the Minister’s Statement 
of Expectation.

Respond to the recommendations 
of the Review of Administrative 
Processes in the Assessment of Level 
2 and Called-in Activities to make the 
assessment process more efficient and 
effective

The recommendations of the review have been largely 
implemented and the EPA continues to review and update 
guidelines to help streamline the assessment process.

Revise the Board’s Annual Fee 
Remission Guidelines for the variable 
component of annual permit fees 
to make them more effective in 
promoting and rewarding better 
environmental performance.

Work has commenced to review the Guidelines

Annual report includes a statement of 
achievements against Board objectives 
and the Minister’s Statement of 
Expectation

Achieved.
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During 2021-22 the EPA Board:
•  Undertook the environmental assessment 

of six proposed Level 2 activities (detailed 
under Development Assessments). See 
Table 3 for a full list of proposals assessed 
by the Board and under delegation from 
the Board.

•   Considered the findings of the report 
entitled Strengthening the frontline 
health protection and environmental 
management workforce in Tasmania: A 
workforce development strategic plan for 
Environmental Health Officers and noted 
its support of the report findings to the 
Minister.

•   Approved the publishing of Notices 
of Intent and finalised Environmental 
Effect Report and Environmental Impact 
Assessment Guidelines on the EPA website 
for proposals under assessment. At the 
end of the reporting period there were 87 
proposals being assessed by the Board.

•  Endorsed the approach proposed by 
the Office of the Coordinator General 
for undertaking an assessment of noise 
impacts at Bell Bay and committed to 
providing specialist advice as needed.

•   Provided written support for a linkage 
program application from the University 
of Tasmania to the Australian Research 
Council.  The Board had previously 
provided funds towards the eagle 
investigation project in 2020. The project 
aims to develop behavioural models of 
flight behaviour of eagles that predict risk 
of collisions with turbines, for application in 
spatial planning at Tasmania-wide and local 
scales, measure the effects of disturbance 
on breeding wedge-tailed eagles and 
estimate the size of the Tasmanian wedge-
tailed eagle populations.

•  Application in spatial planning at Tasmania-
wide and local scales.

•  Considered various reports and approved 
expenditure of funds in relation to the 
Savage River Rehabilitation Project 
and the Environment Protection Fund, 
including:

 -  Six monthly updates on the status of the 
Environment Protection Fund

 -  SRRP financial reconciliation and budget 
forecast

 -  SRRP Action Plan
 -  The General Services Contract.
•   Had presentations on post approval audits 

for several activities including the Cattle 
Hill Wind Farm, Breadalbane Quarry and 
Scottsdale Abattoir.

•  Reviewed and updated its Guidelines 
for Making Assessment Decisions Under 
Delegation.

•  Approved and adopted a policy statement 
related to the Minamata Convention on 
Mercury.

•  Approved and adopted the policy 
statement entitled Update to Air Pollutant 
Design Criteria used in the Environmental 
Impact Assessment Process.

•  Undertook a site visit to Robbins Island 
looking at the proposed site of the 
Robbins Island Windfarm in November 
2021.

•  Received presentations on:
 -  The Commonwealth EPBC Act Bilateral 

Agreement
 -  The UTAS project for Investigating the 

Conservation Biology of the Tasmania 
wedge-tailed eagle it provided funding 
for in 2020

 -  The New Bridgewater Bridge Proposal
 -  How air impacts are considered by the 

EPA Air Section

 -  The Mt Lyell Mine tyre fire
 -  The SRRP Cobalt Recovery Project
 -  The SRRP Old Tailings Dam stability 

analysis
 -  The Derwent Estuary Program and its 

key projects
 -  The Tasmanian Planning Policies and 

Review of the State Planning Provisions.
•   Received briefings on the tug boat sinking 

incident in Devonport.
•  Approved sponsorship funding from the 

Environment Protection Fund for:
 -  The EPA Sustainability Awards for 2022, 

2023 & 2024
 -  The 2022 National EHA Conference
 -  The State EHA Conferences for 2022, 

2023 & 2024
 -  The State LGAT Conferences for 2022, 

2023 & 2024.
•  Considered several fee remission 

applications.
•  Approved a policy position on windfarm 

noise limits.
•  Reviewed the EPA Board - EPA Protocols.
•  Considered the draft update for the EPA 

Strategic Plan.
•   As part of its program to ensure sound 

administration and governance:   
 -  Reviewed registers the Board is required 

to maintain; 
 -  Monitored the Environment Protection 

Fund; and 
 -  Carried out annual reviews of 

delegations, authorisations and protocols 
and re-made or amended these as 
required.

Achievements

Table 2.  EPA Board members meeting attendances in 2021-2022

Jul  
2021

Jul  
2021

Sep 
2021

Oct 
2021

Nov 
2021

Nov 
2021

Dec 
2021

Jan 
2022

Mar 
2022

Apr 
2022

May 
2022

Jun 
2022

Totals

A Paul 11

B Hazell 11

A Locatelli 11

I Cresswell 12

W Ford 11

M Read 4

A Hughes 1

C Ong 5

M Gifford 10

Notes: Attended regular meeting          Out of sessionAttended as observer          
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Feature Item

The scale and complexity of the incident 
warranted a Level 2 response, in the 
terminology of the Australasian Inter-
service Incident Management System 
(AIIMS). In the days immediately following 
the incident, an EPA Incident Management 
Team (IMT) was established alongside a 
TasPorts IMT.

The EPA took direct responsibility 
for all response activities outside the 
containment area delineated by the 
booms around the tugs. The State Marine 
Pollution Controller requested that 
TasPorts take direct responsibility for all 
activities occurring at its port facilities and 
within the containment area. 

The EPA response operations involved 
establishment of a forward operating base 
(FOB) from 30 January to 8 February 
2022 at the Horse Head Creek boat 
ramp, Miandetta. Shoreline and water-
based investigation and clean up teams 
gathered survey information on the 
spread of hydrocarbons throughout 
the estuary and past the river mouth. A 
dedicated on-water wildlife team from the 
Department of Natural Resources and 
Environment Tasmania (NRE Tas) Marine 
Conservation Program was deployed to 
manage any oiled wildlife. 

Mersey River
Incident Response
On 28 January 2022, the 
CSL Group cement carrier 
MV Goliath collided with the 
Tasmanian Ports Corporation 
(TasPorts) tugboats York Cove 
and Campbell Cove at the 
Port of Devonport. The incident 
had the potential to become 
the most significant marine 
pollution event in Tasmania 
since the grounding of the bulk 
carrier MV Iron Baron in July 
1995. 

Just over 50 staff from the EPA, the 
NRE Tas and Marine and Safety 
Tasmania (MAST) were rostered on 
the EPA’s IMT over the course of the 
response, reaching a high of around 30 
in the first week. 

Field data were captured using the 
Collector App and made accessible via 
LISTmap. Aerial imagery was captured 
to provide an overview of the spread 
of diesel by helicopter and Remotely 
Piloted Aircraft flights. 

The incident required effective 
collaboration between the EPA, 
TasPorts, the Australian Maritime 
Safety Authority (AMSA), NRE Tas, 
MAST, Tasmania Police (TasPol), local 
government, community groups and 
other agencies.

Due to the quick response and 
collaboration between all parties the 
incident’s environmental impacts and 
impacts on wildlife were limited, with 
six bird mortalities recorded.

The EPA, in conjunction with TasPorts 
continually kept the local community, 
media stakeholders up to date on the 
response to the incident.  

Tugboats York Cove and Campbell Cove
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The EPA established a dedicated incident 
response page on their website where 
updates were published, and media 
releases were issued on a regular basis.  

This included recommendations to 
the local community not to eat fish 
caught from the river in some instances.  
The Tasmanian Government’s official 
emergency information source TasALERT, 
together with TasPol assisted the EPA by 
publishing updates and warnings. The EPA 
also liaised with local councils who also 
published updates and warnings on their 
social media platforms.

The FOB at Horse Head Creek was 
demobilised on 8 February 2022, with the 
EPA on standby to remobilise if necessary. 
EPA staff assisting TasPorts with wharf side 
operations stood down on 11 February 
2022. 

As of 11 February, 72 tonnes of skimmed 
mixed oil, diesel, and water had been 
transported to an EPA approved 
landfill and composting facility at an 
appropriate waste management facility for 
bioremediation to reduce hydrocarbon 
content, before being used as cover on 
landfill cells at that site. 

The EPA commenced an investigation 
of the incident under the Environmental 
Management and Pollution Control Act 
1994.

While there are few benefits 
associated with incidents such as this, 
one is the opportunity to reflect 
on the response, to collect lessons 
identified by all involved, and to use 
these insights to improve the way we 
respond to future incidents. 

Boom repositioning

Washing rocks north of wharf area

Boom trailer arriving and set-up
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an inland fish farm, a mine, a woodchip mill, 
an abattoir, an electrolysis plant, a wood & 
plastics bio composite plant, a sawmill and 
kiln, an inert landfill, a high purity alumina 
processing plant, dumping of dredge spoils 
and the Bridgewater Bridge major project. 

In total 87 assessments were in progress at 
the close of the 2021-22 year compared to 
68 at the end of the previous year. A list of 
active assessments which have been formally 
lodged with the EPA is available on the EPA 
website.

A bilateral agreement between the 
State and Commonwealth governments 
means that the EPA Board’s assessment 
of development proposals that also 
require Commonwealth approval under 
the Environment Protection and Biodiversity 
Conservation Act 1999 (Cwlth), may be 
accepted by the Commonwealth for the 
purposes of making its approval decision. 
Table 4 provides details of the eight 
assessments that were in progress under the 
bilateral agreement in 2021-22.

The Board’s Statement of Intent includes 
performance measures aimed at ensuring 
that the Board carries out its assessments 
according to the statutory timeframes that 
apply to stages of the assessment process. 
Performance measures are the number of 
assessments completed on time and the 
number of assessment decisions appealed 
and overturned. In 2021-22, 90.00 percent 
of assessments compared with 93.34 
percent last year, were completed within the 
timeframe and no decisions were appealed 
or overturned.

Environmental 
Assessments
Development proposals for Level 2 activities 
listed in Schedule 2 of EMPCA must be 
referred to the Board for environmental 
impact assessment. Occasionally non-Level 
2 activities may also be called in by the 
Director for assessment by the Board.

After an initial scoping phase, the EPA 
provides guidance to the proponent on the 
information that must be provided to enable 
the proposal to be assessed.

Once this information has been submitted, 
comments are invited from the public and 
relevant government agencies. At this point 
the proponent may be required to provide 
additional information to assist the EPA 
Board in its assessment.

The Board may either refuse a proposal or 
require Council (the Planning Authority) to 
impose conditions and restrictions on any 
subsequent permit granted. In other cases, 
the Director may issue an Environment 
Protection Notice (EPN) containing the 
EPA’s conditions and restrictions, which are 
designed to prevent or mitigate any adverse 
environmental impacts of the proposal.

Detailed information for each assessment, 
including the Board’s assessment reports and 
permit conditions, is provided on the EPA 
website.

During 2021-22, 21 assessments were 
completed (as listed in Table 3). Compared 
with 15 in 2020-21, 12 in 2019-20, 26 in 
2018-19 and 24 in 2017-18. These include 
5 quarries, 4 waste water treatment plants, 

Table 3. Completed EPA Assessments for 2021-22

Client Location Activity Date Decision

Bryden Elliot Building & 
Excavations Pty Ltd

Mount Calder Quarry, 
188 Montgomerys Rd, 
BUCKLAND TAS 7190

Quarry 21/07/2021 Delegate

Bluestone Mines Tasmania 
Joint Venture Pty Ltd

Paste Backfill Plant, RENISON 
BELL TAS 7469

Waste treatment and 
disposal facility

26/07/2021 Delegate

West Coast Council Zeehan Waste Depot, Henty 
Main Rd, ZEEHAN TAS 7467

Wastewater 
treatment works

3/08/2021 Delegate

Gadtech Materials Pty Ltd Sunshine Quarry, Sunshine 
Rd, MAYDENA TAS 7140

Quarry 23/08/2021 Delegate

CLTP Panel Products Pty Ltd Wynwood Sawmill and Kiln, 683 Deep 
Creek Rd, WYNYARD TAS 7325

Sawmill and kiln 25/10/2021 Delegate

Gaspersic Contracting Pty Ltd Heemskirk Quarry, Heemskirk Rd, 
GRANVILLE HARBOUR TAS 7469

Quarry 1/11/2021 Delegate

Key Achievements and Activities

Wind Turbine
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Tasmanian Water & Sewerage 
Corporation Pty Ltd

Cygnet Wastewater Treatment Plant, 
Channel Hwy, CYGNET TAS 7112

Wastewater 
treatment works

19/11/2021 Delegate

Tasmanian Water & Sewerage 
Corporation Pty Ltd

Geeveston Wastewater 
Treatment Plant, Huon Hwy, 
GEEVESTON TAS 7116

Wastewater 
treatment works

30/11/2021 Delegate

Boral Construction 
Materials Group Ltd

Macquarie Road Quarry, 
Meadowbank, Macquarie Rd, 
CAMPBELL TOWN TAS 7210

Quarry 7/12/2021 Delegate

Peloton Resources Pty Ltd High Purity Alumina Pilot Plant, Bell Bay, 
135 Bell Bay Rd, BELL BAY TAS 7253

High purity alumina 
processing plant

15/12/2021 Delegate

Footrot Flats Pty Ltd Stowport Abattoir, 5 Warra 
Rd, STOWPORT TAS 7321

Abattoir 16/12/2021 EPA Board

Walters Contracting Pty Ltd Porters Bridge Road Quarry, 190 
Porters Bridge Rd, EXTON TAS 7304

Quarry 12/01/2022 Delegate

Timberlink Australia Pty Limited Wood and Plastics Bio-
Composite Plant, 331 Old Bell 
Bay Rd, BELL BAY TAS 7253

Wood and plastics 
bio-composite plant

17/02/2022 Delegate

Petuna Aquaculture Pty Ltd Cressy Hatchery, CRESSY TAS 7302 Inland fish farm 25/02/2022 EPA Board

Kentish Construction & 
Engineering Co. Pty Ltd Trading 
as Treloar Transport Co.

Forthside Landfill, 547 Forthside 
Rd, FORTHSIDE TAS 7310

Inert landfill 8/03/2022 Delegate

Midway Tasmania Pty Ltd Woodchip Processing Plant, Bell 
Bay (Norfolk St Site), 37 Norfolk 
St, BELL BAY TAS 7253

Woodchip mill 29/03/2022 Delegate

Nyrstar Hobart Pty Ltd Hobart Zinc Smelter, 300 Risdon 
Rd, LUTANA TAS 7010

Electrolysis plant 5/04/2022 EPA Board

Grange Resources (Tasmania) Pty Ltd Savage River Mine, SAVAGE 
RIVER TAS 7321

Mine and waste depot 5/04/2022 EPA Board

Tasmanian Ports Corporation 
Pty Ltd Trading as TasPorts

Port of Devonport, DEVONPORT 
EAST TAS 7310

Dumping of dredge 
spoils within waters 
within limits of the state

6/05/2022 EPA Board

Department of State Growth New Bridgewater Bridge, Straddles 
Brighton, Glenorchy and Derwent 
Valley LGAs. Declared a Major 
Project under LUPAA 

New Bridgewater Bridge 2/06/2022 EPA Board

MMR Recycling Pty Ltd trading 
as Thurlow Recycling Pty Ltd

120 Cove Hill Road, 
BRIDGEWATER TAS 7030

Waste depot 20/06/2022 Delegate

Table 4. Assessments in-progress under the Commonwealth-State Bilateral Agreement in 2021-22

Client Location Activity Status

Venture Minerals Limited Mt Livingstone, off Pieman Rd,Tullah Mine and materials handling In progress

Venture Minerals Limited Mt Lindsay Tin-Tungsten-Magnetite Mine 
Project, off Pieman Rd,Tullah

Mine and mineral works In progress

Bluestone Mines Tasmania 
Joint Venture Pty Ltd

Rentails (Renison Tailings Treatment) Project, 
Renison Bell Mine, Renison Bell

Tailings re-processing plant Withdrawn

Epuron Projects Pty Ltd Guildford Rd, North West Tasmania Wind farm In progress

Epuron Projects Pty Ltd St Patricks Plains, Central Highlands Wind farm In progress

UPC Robbins Island Pty Ltd Robbins Island, North West Wind farm In progress

MMG Australia Ltd South Marionoak, Rosebery Waste depot In progress

BC McConnon & J L McConnon McConnon’s Quarry, Buckland Road, Buckland Quarry In progress

ACEN Robbins Island Pty Ltd Robbins Island Road to Hampshire Transmission Line Power transmission Line In progress
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Key Achievements and Activities

EPA-regulated activities must be operated 
in accordance with conditions set by the 
EPA Board, contained in permits issued 
by planning authorities (local councils), 
which may be varied as necessary by the 
Director via an Environment Protection 
Notice (EPN). The conditions for Level 2 
activities are revised periodically if there 
is a change in the nature of operations 
or environmental risk. Stand-alone EPNs 
are also issued to require clean-up 
or to prevent environmental harm or 
environmental nuisance.

The EPA uses a risk-based approach when 
regulating industry, including scheduled 
reviews of legal instruments, compliance 
audits, follow-up actions to address 
problems, and responding to complaints 
and incidents.

Regulation of 
Industrial Operations
The aim of the EPA’s Industrial Regulation 
Branch is to ensure environmental 
risks arising from the construction and 
operation of Level 2 industrial facilities, as 
defined by EMPCA, are managed, and that 
they do not result in unacceptable impacts 
to the environment.

In 2021-22, the EPA regulated 372 
Level 2 activities that are primarily large 
industrial operations involved with energy 
generation and supply, food and beverage 
processing, metallurgical and chemical 
processing, wood processing, mining and 
extractive industries. 

Activity measures for the regulation of 
industrial activities in 2021-22 are shown 
in Table 5, and a summary of notable 
regulation activities undertaken in 2021-22 
is provided in Table 6.

EPA officers involved in the regulation 
of industrial activities are located in 
EPA offices in Hobart, Launceston and 
Ulverstone.

Table 5. Regulatory activities for Level 2 premises in 2021-22 compared with the previous five years

Activity Measures (Number) 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Environment Protection Notices Issued 47 48 46 39 28

Compliance Audits 89 79 38 35 25

Site Inspections 130 170 103 98 101

 
Tailings Storage Facility construction
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Table 6. Regulatory activity for industrial premises 2021-22

Regulatory activity for industrial premises 2021-22

Van Dairy Ltd  - North West Tasmania

In order to be satisfied that the risk of environmental harm resulting from the design and operation of effluent management systems at Van Dairy 
Limited (VDL) properties is sufficiently mitigated, the Director, EPA required VDL under Section 43 of EMPCA, to commission an externally accredited 
and suitably qualified effluent system designer to prepare Effluent System Review and Management Plans for 11 of the VDL properties. The EPA has 
reviewed the plans and is currently working with the Tasmanian Dairy Industry Authority (TDIA) and Circular Head Council to ensure Van Diary 
Limited (VDL) are managing effluent on their properties in Northwest Tasmania in accordance with the requirements of the Farm Dairy Premises 
Effluent Management Code of Practice – May 2010. 

Group 6 Metals – King Island

Group 6 Metals Limited commenced construction activities for the redevelopment of the Dolphin Tungsten Mine at Grassy, King Island early in 2022. 
Tungsten has been identified by the Commonwealth Government as a strategic critical mineral and the Dolphin Tungsten Mine hosts one of the 
highest-grade tungsten deposits of significance in the western world. During the expected 12-month construction period managing potential impacts 
on seabirds, ensuring noise and dust do not cause nuisance, and mitigating impacts on threatened vegetation communities are key environmental 
considerations for the EPA. An Environment Protection Notice has been issued to the operators of the mine by the EPA to impose dam safety 
requirements and to permit the construction of a Tailings Storage Facility (TSF) to be located at the site of the former TSF.

Huon Aquaculture – Paramatta Creek

Since the EPA took compliance action in 2018, Huon Aquaculture has significantly improved the quality of wastewater used to irrigate pastures at 
the Parramatta Creek processing facility. Historically, wastewater salinity was approximately 5 times higher than the optimum concentration required 
for reuse on pastures and this resulted in groundwater contamination and impacted soil health. As a result of operational changes made within the 
processing facility wastewater salinity is suitable for ongoing irrigation. The reduction in wastewater salinity came at the same time as the EPA Board 
approved an increase annual production to 33,000 tonnes. Huon Aquaculture continue to address legacy wastewater irrigation issues, including the 
resolution of localised contamination in groundwater.

Timberlink Expansion – Bell Bay

The EPA is regulating a series of expansions at the Timberlink Wood Processing facility in Bell Bay. Construction of a Wood and Plastics Bio-composite 
Plant has commenced at the Timberlink plant.  The project will utilise pelletised soft plastics and sawdust generated onsite to manufacture a composite 
plank product that can be used for residential screens and decks. Timberlink are also liaising with the EPA regarding the assessment of a Finger Jointing 
Plant. The operation will join short pieces of dry timber (shooks,) thereby increasing sawmilling efficiency and reducing operational waste. Timberlink 
are endeavoring to commission both operations during 2023.

Grange Resources – Port Latta

Grange Resources were provided with an approval from the EPA to undertake the recovery of up to 7,000 tonnes of iron ore pellets, that had built 
up over a period of 50 years below the Port Latta shiploader and under the berthing area. The buildup of pellets at a depth of 14 metres presented 
a risk of hull damage to the large iron ships during loading at low tide. The project required the establishment of the backhoe dredge Machiavelli with 
its associated hopper barge. The process involved the dredging of the pellets from the seabed, placing them in the hopper barge and transporting 
the recovered pellets to the Port of Burnie from which they were trucked to the Port Latta pellet stockpile for future sale. The EPA undertook an 
environmental assessment of the pellet recovery project that considered environmental controls for such matters as water quality, noise emissions, 
wastewater management and truck transport. The pellet recovery was successfully executed over a three-day period.

New Bridgewater Bridge Major Project

The Development Assessment Panel (the Panel) for the major project determined to grant a major project permit (the permit) for the construction 
and operations of the New Bridgewater Bridge on 18 May 2022. The Panel imposed conditions or restrictions on the permit that relate to matters 
which correlate with the EPA’s vision, goals and values. The major project has a number of key environmental elements (e.g air quality, water quality, 
noise and vibration emissions etc) of interest to the EPA. As such, the EPA has been working collaboratively with the proponent to ensure that the 
relevant management plans meet best practice environmental management measures and they incorporate adaptive management, to minimise and 
prevent environmental nuisance and environmental harm likely to be caused by the key environmental elements. 

Mt Lyell – Residual Tyre Fire Waste

In October 2021, a fire event occurred within the Royal Tharsis open cut pit, which was the primary location for the storage of waste tyres from the 
mining operation. It was estimated that the stockpiled waste tyres contained approximately 950 large underground mining vehicle tyres plus 500 light 
vehicle tyres. This equated to an approximate calculated mass of 910 tonnes. Monitoring results that included the measurement of particulates, from 
the EPA’s air station in Queenstown confirmed the town’s air quality was not impacted by the tyre fire. Ongoing monitoring of water leaving the mine 
site has not identified combustion products above laboratory reporting limits. As the fire debris was deemed a controlled waste containing elevated 
zinc levels, the EPA has actively worked with the mine owner Copper Mines of Tasmania to achieve chemical stabilisation of the residual tyre waste, 
which has enabled the effective disposal of the tyre waste to an authorised landfill in July 2022.

Grange Resources – Expansion of Centre Pit at Savage River Mine

In April 2022 the Board of the EPA approved the dewatering and recommencement of mining in the Savage River Mine Centre Pit. The enlargement of 
the pit involves the excavation of approximately 31 million tonnes of ore and 255 million tonnes of waste rock. Critical to the resumption of mining is the 
pump out of the pit mine water which contains metals of interest (for example copper, cobalt, nickel) that are at elevated levels compared to the Savage 
River water quality. The EPA is providing oversight to ensure that the treated pit water ultimately discharged to the Savage River does not have a negative 
impact on water quality and the ecology of the river. The pit water is pumped via the flooded South Lens Pit which is the central water treatment facility 
for the mine, and ultimately discharges to the Savage River.  The large South Lens water body acts as a sediment retention pond and provides alkalinity, 
promoting flocculation of metals. Grange are required to adjust the Centre Pit pumping rate according to the river flow rate and trigger values prescribed 
for elements of interest at the South Lens discharge to the river and at a location downstream. Should trigger values be exceeded, Grange are required to 
investigate the cause and implement management actions.  Dewatering of Centre Pit is expected to continue throughout 2022.
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Key Achievements and Activities

•   Construction of a new outfall for the 
Tullah WWTP was completed and 
commissioned in November 2021.

•   TasWater commissioned a new biogas 
flare system at the Cameron Bay 
WWTP in March 2022. Installation of 
a new sludge dewatering system at 
the site also commenced in 2022, with 
sludge works due to be completed by 
September.

•  Construction of a new WWTP at 
Longford was completed in March 2022. 
The new plant commenced partial 
operations in March and is expected 
to be fully commissioned early in the 
2022-23 financial year.

Wastewater regulation

On-site regulatory activities in 2021-
22 were heavily impacted by ongoing 
COVID-19 restrictions. The key regulatory 
activities this year included:

•   Permit conditions were updated at 
three TasWater WWTPs.

•  Ten site visits were conducted at Level 
2 WWTPs. One on-site compliance 
audit was completed at the Sheffield 
WWTP.

•  The EPA commenced an investigation 
into macroinvertebrate health within 
Pencil Pine Creek, downstream of the 
Cradle Mountain WWTP discharge 
point. 

Wastewater 
Management
The EPA regulates 80 Level 2 Municipal 
Wastewater Treatment Plants (WWTPs) 
across Tasmania. These Level 2 WWTPs 
have the capacity to treat an average dry 
weather flow of over 100 kilolitres (kL) 
per day (equivalent to sewage from a 
town of about 400 people, or 100,000 
litres of wastewater per day). Collectively, 
the Level 2 plants treat over 50,000 
megalitres of domestic, commercial, and 
industrial wastewater annually. Of the 
80 Level 2 WWTPs, 77 are operated by 
TasWater, two are operated by Parks and 
Wildlife Service, and one is operated by 
the Port Arthur Historic Site Management 
Authority. The three plants not operated 
by TasWater account for less than 0.2 
percent of treated effluent annually. The 
majority of the WWTPs operated by 
TasWater provide secondary treatment, 
eleven provide for tertiary treatment and 
one provides primary treatment only. 
TasWater also operates an additional 
33 Level 1 WWTPs that service smaller 
communities. These smaller plants are 
regulated by Local Government.

Progress towards improved 
environmental outcomes

TasWater undertook the following 
projects in 2021-22, which are intended 
to lead to better environmental outcomes 
through improved sewage treatment and 
effluent quality and reduced environmental 
nuisance:

Water and Sewerage Status

The latest data available is based on 
information collated for the Tasmanian 
Water and Sewerage State of the Industry 
Report, which results in a delay in the 
reporting for some wastewater statistics. 
Note also that year to year variation in 
flow volumes is due to seasonal rainfall 
patterns.

In 2020-21, a total of 53,979 ML of 
sewage inflows were treated at TasWater’s 
Level 1 and Level 2 wastewater treatment 
plants, representing approximately 288 
kL per property. 53,086 ML of treated 
effluent was discharged from TasWater’s 
Level 2 WWTPs to the following receiving 
environments.

•  28,239 ML (53%) into estuarine waters;

•  12,930 ML (24%) into coastal waters;

•  6,791 ML (13%) into inland waters; and

•  5,126 ML (10%) was discharged to land 
as recycled water (refer Figure 2).

Treated effluent produced at seven 
WWTPs was fully reused, with no 
discharge to receiving waters from these 
plants in 2021-22.  Whilst there are 
small changes in the relative percentages 
between the treatment levels from year 
to year, significant change will not occur 
without capital expenditure to upgrade 
WWTP technology.

 
Sheffield Wastewater Treatment Plant
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TasWater’s flow-weighted compliance against regulatory discharge to waters limits reduced slightly from the 2019-20 level 
(90.8 per cent) and the 2018-19 level (90.2 per cent) to 90.1 per cent in 2020-21. Flow-weighted performance against 
Accepted Modern Technology (AMT) limits has been more stable over time, with the 2020-21 performance level of 70.2 
per cent comparable to the 2019-20 result of 70.1 per cent. TasWater’s flow-weighted performance against regulatory 
discharge to land limits was 95.7 per cent in 2020-21, below the 96.8 per cent reported for the previous year but well 
within the desirable range of more than 90 per cent compliance.
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Table 7: Number of STPs by compliance category (regulatory limits)

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

>90% compliance 30 33 25 31 32

>70 - 90% compliance 30 27 35 26 28

>50 - 75% compliance 8 11 11 10 11

<50% compliance 4 3 2 3 1

Table 8: Number of STPs by performance category (reuse limits)

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21

>90% compliance 15 15 14 19 18

>70 - 90% compliance 8 10 16 12 14

>50 - 75% compliance 7 5 4 3 2

<50% compliance 1 1 - - -

In 2020-21, 5,126 ML (10%) of effluent was beneficially reused (refer Figure 2), typically in the irrigation of agricultural land (e.g. pasture 
and seed crops), golf courses and other municipal recreational areas. The volume of effluent reused in 2020-21 was slightly reduced from 
the preceding three reporting periods, with seasonal weather conditions being less favourable, reducing irrigation uptake. TasWater and 
the EPA remain focused on increasing the volume of treated effluent diverted from water to land.

Figure 3: Volume and percentage of total treated effluent 
reused state-wide over time (ML/year, %).

estuary/bay,
28,239ML, 53%

reuse,
5,126ML,10%

inland, 
6,791ML, 13%

coastal,
12,930ML, 24%

Figure 2: Sewage discharge by receiving environment 
2020-21 (ML/year; percentage of flow).
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In 2021-22, the following activities were 
undertaken:

•  Issue 18 ELs for inland and marine 
finfish farming activities (9 renewed and 
9 varied).

•  Co-ordinate international expert 
review of the Broadscale Environmental 
Monitoring Programs for the 
D’Entrecasteaux Channel and Huon 
River, Storm Bay, and Macquarie 
Harbour regions. Recommendations 
from the reviews are being considered 
in the development of the new 
environmental monitoring requirements 
for aquaculture.

•  Continue development of regional 
production limit framework for marine 
finfish aquaculture. 

•  Support NRE Tas in development of 
environmental standard and position 
paper reflecting contemporary 
approaches to environmental 
monitoring of salmon farming.

•  Undertake compliance auditing activities 
associated with inland and marine finfish 
farms inland and, including the setting 
and evaluation of regular compliance 
video surveys (477 reviewed) and pre-
stocking surveys for marine finfish farms.

•  Analyse and interpret monitoring and 
research data to support regulatory 
decision making.

Finfish Aquaculture 
Regulation
The EPA regulated 62 premises involved in 
finfish aquaculture, consisting of 43 marine 
farms in State waters and 19 inland fish 
farms in 2021-22. Environmental Licences 
(ELs) have been issued for all regulated 
premises. 

The licensed marine finfish farming leases 
occupy a total of 2,593 hectares, with 
farming conducted in several regions 
across the State. These regions are 
Tasman Peninsula, Huon River Estuary 
and D’Entrecasteaux Channel, Storm Bay, 
Okehampton Bay, Macquarie Harbour, and 
the Tamar Estuary.

The Salmon Environmental Regulation 
Division comprises eleven staff, including 
the recently created of position of 
Director Finfish Compliance. A range 
of regulatory and policy tasks were 
implemented with the support of EPA 
Water Section, Analytical Services 
Tasmania, and the Aquaculture Branch, 
NRE Tas.

•  Draft environmental conditions and 
discharge limits for inclusion in inland 
fish farm Environmental Licences.

•  Provide information and advice to 
support the EPA assessment of inland 
fish farm proposals.

•  Respond to complaints from the public 
(51) associated with finfish farming 
activities.

•  Provide information on environmental 
regulation of the salmon industry in 
response to queries from members 
of the public, community groups, 
organisations, politicians, and the media.

•  Provide quarterly data for the NRE Tas 
Salmon Farming Data Portal.

•  Provide scientific input and support to 
the Institute for Marine and Antarctic 
Studies (University of Tasmania) and 
Fisheries Research and Development 
Corporation fish farm research projects. 

•  Provide representation for the EPA on 
the Scientific Advisory Council for the 
Blue Economy Cooperative Research 
Centre.

 
Tasmanian marine finfish farming
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Contaminated 
Land and Waste 
Management
Contaminated Land

During 2021-22 the EPA focused on 
risk-based prioritisation of contaminated 
land regulatory activities in relation to 
the assessment of notifications of known 
or potential contaminated sites and the 
approximately 700 active Underground 
Petroleum Storage System (UPSS) sites in 
the state.

The EPA continues to increase awareness 
of the newly made Environmental 
Management and Pollution Control 
(Underground Petroleum Storage Systems) 
Regulations 2020 (UPSS Regulations) 
amongst landowners, infrastructure 
owners, system operators and consultants, 
in relation to their obligations under the 

UPSS Regulations. Notifications of light 
non-aqueous phase liquid (LNAPL)) 
in groundwater now prompt the 
investigation of potential UPSS leakage 
and completion of an Environmental Site 
Assessment to determine risks to human 
health and the environment. In 2021-22, 
15 LNAPL notifications were received and 
assessed by the EPA.

The EPA continues to maintain a database 
of active and abandoned UPSS sites 
and land where notices under EMPCA 
to investigate, remediate, or undertake 
site management have been issued. This 
information is freely available to the 
Tasmanian public through LISTmap.

The number of notices issued under 
EMPCA and UPSS regulatory activities last 
year, compared with the preceding five 
years, is shown in Table 9.

EPA ANNUAL REPORT

Table 9. Notices under EMPCA and UPSS regulatory activities over the past five years

2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Notices issued addressing land or 
groundwater contamination 7 5 - 1 -

Notices completed or withdrawn 7 4 2 2 2

UPSS decommissioning forms received 11 19 15 13 19

UPSS sites newly registered 6 15 6 0 9

LNAPL in groundwater reported 
(new requirement for 2020) - - - 2 15

 
Investigation into alleged illegal burning of waste material
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Contaminated 
Land and Waste 
Management, cont.
Per- and polyfluoroalkyl  
substances (PFAS)

In 2021-22, the EPA continued to 
participate in the nationally coordinated 
approach to the management of per- 
and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS), 
by contributing to the development of 
the third version of the PFAS National 
Environmental Management Plan which 
is to be released for public consultation 
in the second half of 2022. The EPA 
continued to manage PFAS in Tasmania 
by progressing actions under the PFAS 
Action Plan for Tasmania. This provides a 
collaborative approach to working with 
known and potential polluters to resolve 
PFAS contamination issues and details 
projects and regulatory actions aimed at 
increasing the EPA’s knowledge of the 
amount of PFAS in the environment. The 
EPA released a progress update for the 
Action Plan in July 2021; further updates 
are to be released on an ongoing basis.

Waste Management

The EPA participates in the national waste 
management agenda and contributes to 
and adopts agreed national approaches 
to waste management. In this way the 
Australian States and Territories can adopt 
consistent and cooperative responses to 
waste management problems. Involvement 
with national issues this year was primarily 
through the Heads of the EPAs (HEPA) 
National Waste Working Group, which 
was established to focus on several 
waste management issues and the HEPA 
National Chemical Working Group, which 
was established to focus on PFAS.

EPA staff have been involved in national 
issues including the beneficial reuse of waste, 
interstate transport, and the management of 
some types of clinical waste.

With the commencement of the Waste 
and Resource Recovery Act 2022 (WRRA) 
on 29 March 2022, amendments 
have been made to EMPCA and the 
Environmental Management and Pollution 
Control (Waste Management) Regulations 
2020 regarding clean fill. Disposal of clean 
fill is no longer exempt from the waste 
regulations governing disposal. This has 
resulted in a new/altered definition of 
clean fill under Section 3 of EMPCA that 
specifies clean fill type 1 (natural materials) 
and clean fill type 2 (construction 
materials).

The Interim Approved Management 
Method (AMM) for clean fill came into 
effect on 6 April 2022 and will expire on 
31 March 2023. The AMM permits the 
disposal of up to 100 tonnes of clean fill to 
land, provided that it is not contaminated 
by pollutants and records are kept. The 
AMM is a temporary measure until public 
consultation on more detailed clean fill 
management can be undertaken.

Regulation of waste disposal and 
treatment facilities

Waste depots are places that treat 
or dispose of waste. In the past, this 
has primarily been small to medium-
sized landfills run by local councils. The 
development of larger regional landfills 
has changed the nature of regulation with 
improved resources and management 
systems available at the larger facilities.

Increased diversion of wastes from 
landfills for reprocessing and reuse

The introduction of the landfill levy of 
$20.40 per tonne for waste disposed of to 
landfill, including the staggered increase of 
the levy over the next 5 years, is expected 
to further increase the diversion of waste 
from landfill.

The diversion of waste from landfill to 
reprocessing facilities such as composting 
and tyre shredding is expected to 
increase, presenting further challenges 
for operators. Issues tend to be related 
to environmental nuisance from odorous 
waste, and environmental harm from 
inadequate leachate management.

Waste regulators continue to conduct 
compliance audits on waste depots and 
have responded to several instances 
of public complaints and incidents of 
environmental harm with regulatory 
action. This has been undertaken in 
conjunction with EPA investigators 
and other supporting areas of the EPA 
throughout the year.

The continued emphasis on waste 
recycling and the diversion of organics 
from landfill has meant that waste 
regulators are providing continued 
assistance to Assessments staff and 
other EPA regulators regarding new or 
expanding activities as well as reuse or 
disposal proposals from regulated entities. 

Regulation of controlled waste

The EPA regulates controlled waste, 
sometimes referred to as hazardous 
waste in other Australian states and 
territories. Controlled wastes must only 
be stored, treated, or disposed of under 
approvals issued by the EPA or council. 
Environmental Approvals (EAs) issued 
under the Waste Regulations are a key 
instrument used by the EPA to authorise 
the storage, treatment, and disposal of 
controlled waste.

Of the EAs issued in 2020-21, just over 
half of these were for waste disposed 
to the Category C Cell at Copping. This 
facility, operated by Southern Waste 
Solutions, has been open since 2018 and 
is purpose-built for hazardous waste. The 
C Cell currently receives most of the 
State’s high-level controlled waste.

Key indicators of the EPA’s activities in 
controlled waste are detailed in the Table 10.
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Regulation of controlled  
waste transporters

The EPA regulates controlled waste 
transporters to ensure that environmental 
risk in transporting controlled waste is as 
low as possible. In Tasmania, controlled 
waste transporters’ conditions of 
registration are set out in a Controlled 

Regulation of interstate  
controlled waste movements

The EPA oversees the transport of 
controlled waste into and out of Tasmania 
under the National Environment Protection 
(Movement of Controlled Waste between 
States and Territories) Measure 1998, 
adopted by agreement between Australian 
States and Territories.

Waste Transporter Certificate of 
Registration, which is issued under 
Regulation 15 of the Environmental 
Management and Pollution Control (Waste 
Management) Regulations 2020.

During 2021-22, Certificates of 
Registration for pre-existing registrations, 
issued under the former 2010 regulations, 

During 2021-22 a total of 2,914 tonnes 
of controlled waste, in 164 movements, 
was imported into the State under two 
Consignment Authorisations and there 
were 186 interstate movements of 
controlled waste out of Tasmania.

have been in the process of being reissued. 
This includes varying the conditions of 
registration to reflect contemporary 
standards of environmental management 
and regulatory practice. Controlled Waste 
Transport Registration data is summarised 
in Table 11.

Table 10. Waste and environmental approvals over the past five years

Number of Approvals and Authorisations 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Waste Approvals (letter) 93 86 113 88 93

Environmental Approvals issued under Waste Regulations 28 50 99 80 101

Total 121 136 212 168 194

Table 11. Controlled Waste Transport Certificates of Registrations Issued over the past five years

Number 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Registrations issued 14 4 12 31 32

Registrations revoked 4 - 3 15 26

Registrations varied 35 46 43 - 43

Total current registrations 160 164 173 205 211

Environmental exemptions granted - 4 - 3 1

Current environmental exemptions 5 5 4 4 8

Table 12: Number of Authorisations and Certificates for the interstate movement of controlled waste over the past five years

Number of Approvals and Authorisations 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

Consignment Authorisations – Waste into Tasmania 30 27 2 2 2

Interstate Waste Transport Certificates 
– Waste out of Tasmania 239 221 190 235 186
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To monitor compliance, the EPA maintains 
an audit program and requires permit 
holders or those whose activities are 
subject to an EPN to monitor their own 
emissions and provide the data to the 
EPA for compliance and environmental 
performance assessments. Operators of 
Level 2 industries are required to notify 
the EPA of incidents and events which 
cause or may threaten pollution or 
environmental harm.

Environmental Investigations and 
Enforcement Section (EIES) 

Following an internal review in the 2021/22 
period and in recognition of the growing 
number of Level 2 regulated activities, 
the EPA has restructured the existing 
Compliance and Incident Response Unit, 
creating a standalone Environmental 
Investigations and Enforcement Section 
(EIES). 

The establishment of the EIES represents 
an opportunity for the EPA to revisit 
existing compliance and enforcement 
policies and procedures, ensuring they 
reflect modern day best practice and are in 
line with public expectation. 

Compliance and 
Enforcement
The EPA uses relevant legislation and 
regulation to assist in protecting the 
environment from pollution and harm. The 
main legislation includes the Environmental 
Management and Pollution Control Act 
1994 (EMPCA), the Litter Act 2007 and 
the Marine-related Incidents (MARPOL 
Implementation) Act 2020 (MARPOL). 
Where non-compliance is detected, a range 
of enforcement mechanisms are available 
to regulatory staff under these Acts and 
are applied in accordance with the agency’s 
Compliance and Enforcement Policy. 

The major enforcement focus of the EPA 
is on regulatory compliance by operators 
of specified activities listed in Schedule 2 
of EMPCA, known as Level 2 activities. The 
entities which carry out these activities 
(e.g. private and government businesses, 
local government) are required to manage 
emissions and pollution, generated by their 
operations, in accordance with conditions 
prescribed in regulatory permits and 
Environment Protection Notices (EPNs).

As part of the restructure and review of 
existing practices, the EPA strives to;  

•  Ensure regulatory staff are confident, 
capable and supported in undertaking 
compliance and enforcement activities 
efficiently and effectively;

•  Ensure compliance and enforcement 
decision-making is fair, defensible, 
consistent, transparent and timely;

•  Demonstrate accountability and 
transparency to regulated entities, 
the community, and the Government 
in respect of use of resources, 
professionalism and obligation to enforce 
environmental laws; and

•  Promote an outward looking, outcomes 
driven compliance culture through 
enhanced collaboration with other 
regulatory agencies in Tasmania, Australia 
and internationally.

Compliance and enforcement activities 
undertaken by the EPA in 2020- 21 
are shown in Table 13 where they are 
compared with the previous four years.

Table 13 Environmental Investigation and Enforcement activities over the past five years

Activity Indicators 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-2021 2021 - 2022

Litigation completed by Court 1 1 1 1 -

Prosecutions by Infringement Notice 13 16 9 - 7

Written Warnings 9 8 2 14 5

Referred matters commenced 13 12 15 6 26

Litter – Infringement Notices issued 167 111 86 111 62

Litter – Written Warnings issued 3 6 - 3 5

Litter – Abatement Notices issued 1 1 1 - -

 
Report of dumping
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During 2021-2022, the EPA received 43 
notifications of oil spills or the potential 
for oil spills into the marine environment.  
Fourteen reports related to sunken or 
grounded vessels with potential to leak 
oil, but no oil discharge was detected; 
10 vessel-related incidents involved 
discharges of minor amounts of oil; three 
notifications related to vessel fires; and 
one notification involved a vessel reported 
as abandoned with potential to leak oil.  
Another 15 marine pollution events, not 
directly related to vessels, were reported 
in rivers and estuaries.  The most significant 
event occurred when a bulk carrier, the 
MV Goliath, collided with two tugboats 
tied to the wharf in the Mersey River at 
Devonport in January 2022 (see full report 
on page 12).

Natural Causes and Other Events

The EPA was notified of four mass fish 
death incidents, three of which were 
determined to be due to natural events, 
such as rough weather conditions or 
stranding to escape predation by dolphins.  
The fourth occasion occurred when a 
trench dug as part of roadworks allowed 
a large school of mackerel to enter at 
hightide, which then stranded them as the 
tide receded leading to increased water 
temperature and depleted dissolved 
oxygen.  There was also a report of dead 
eels below the Trevallyn Power Station 
Tailrace, despite the installation of a bypass 
system in the Trevallyn Dam to reduce 
fatalities during the eel migration season.

The EPA worked closely with TFS in 
relation to events involving vehicle crashes, 
vessel fires, fire at a green waste facility, 
and tyre fires on a farming property and 
a mine site.  The EPA also responded to 
two major industrial fires; a significant 
fire in an EPA-regulated metal recycling 
facility and another in an educational 
automotive workshop.  The EPA attended 
an incident when a fuel storage container 

Pollution Incidents 
and Response
The EPA operates a pollution reporting 
hotline (1800 005 171) and receives 
notifications of events that cause or may 
cause pollution or environmental harm.  
Pollution incidents are reported by EPA-
regulated industries, the community and 
other emergency response agencies.  The 
EPA received 1125 notifications this year, 
503 of which were calls to the hotline, or 
about 45 percent of all notifications. The 
remainder were received via email and 
telephone.

Incident Response Officers (IROs) work 
with those notifications to determine 
appropriate response actions, coordinate 
the provision of specialist advice or refer 
the incident to the relevant pollution 
management authority.  On average, about 
one-third of notifications received by 
the EPA are referred to other response 
agencies and Councils.

High-level incidents are those notifications 
which meet the following criteria: the EPA 
deploys response staff, sensitive receptors 
are or may be adversely impacted, multi-
agency management is required, or crucial 
environmental advice is required.  There 
were 33 incidents managed as high-level 
incidents this year.

Marine Pollution

The EPA is the management authority 
and advisory agency for marine pollution 
incidents in Tasmania, with responsibilities 
under the Marine-related Incidents 
(MARPOL Implementation) Act 2020.  The 
Tasmanian Marine Oil and Chemical Spill 
Contingency Plan (TasPlan) also describes 
the responsibilities of the EPA, TasPorts, 
Tasmania Fire Service (TFS) and local 
Councils in relation to preparing for and 
responding to marine pollution incidents.

was punctured while being unloaded from 
a barge on Flinders Island and provided 
advice and support to TasPorts to prevent 
diesel escaping into the water.

Recycal fire incident

A fire at a recycling facility at Launceston, 
in Tasmania’s north was a major incident 
that the EPA deployed incident response, 
investigation and regulatory staff to. The 
fire started around 7:45pm on 7 February 
2022. TFS were the lead agency, the initial 
tactics were to extinguish the flames and 
then cool the stockpile. Residual heat from 
metals in the stockpile continued to restart 
the fire, this required water to be sprayed 
onto the fire area for several days.

EPA response staff discussed solutions to 
the fire water runoff issues with TFS, this 
included the use of foam, reducing water 
being applied, the use of pumper trucks to 
remove water from stormwater holding 
tanks, cycling the water directly to the 
wastewater system and temporary dams/
ponds for containment. Water being applied 
to the fire was reduced as soon as safe. 
Stage two of the fire water management 
was to contain the fire water on site in 
bunded areas and ponds that were dug once 
the main fire operations were complete.

Fire water did escape the property before 
a full management plan was in place, this 
threatened to contaminate a large dam 
storage. A temporary dam wall above 
this storage was built by the landowner 
to contain the water until appropriate 
disposal could be agreed. This solution 
required consultation with the site owner, 
the affected landowner, TasWater, NRE Tas 
Water Assessment staff and the EPA.

The EPA also collected samples of the 
fire water to evaluate what contaminants 
were in the water to assist in determining 
appropriate management of the fire water 
and the land.

 
River pollution event
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made as a drawdown of the PPF. The total 
funds available under the SRRP at 30 June 
2022 were $19,782,340.48, comprising 
$11,681,960.48 in the EPF and $8,100,380 
from the PPF.

The goal of the SRRP is to promote 
the recovery of a modified but 
healthy ecosystem in the Savage River 
downstream of the mine, and to promote 
fish migration into the upper Savage River. 
The focus has been on managing the 
primary sources of legacy pollution at the 
mine site (ie old tailings and waste rock 
dumps) and monitoring to assess the 
effectiveness of remediation works. Water 
quality monitoring has shown a decline 
in the concentrations of contaminants 
in the Savage River and surveys of the 
aquatic ecology show that river health has 
continued to improve. This monitoring 
data, collected since 1997, constitutes 
a significant historic database and is a 
valuable asset.

Key project outputs and activities of the 
SRRP during 2021-22 include the following:

•  Monthly water quality sampling 
continued at 13 monitoring sites, 
providing an ongoing record of physical 
parameters and chemical analytes. 

Savage River
Rehabilitation Project
The Savage River Rehabilitation Project 
(SRRP) operates as a cooperative 
partnership between the EPA and the 
current operator of the Savage River Mine, 
Grange Resources (Grange), with the aim 
of reducing the environmental impacts from 
legacy mine pollution caused by past mining 
operations (from 1967 to1996). The major 
issue is acid and metalliferous drainage 
(AMD), which has caused significant 
and ongoing environmental harm to the 
Savage River and its tributaries. The EPA 
oversees the SRRP and Chairs the SRRP 
Management Committee, which includes 
representatives from the EPA, Mineral 
Resources Tasmania and Grange.

The SRRP has two sources of funding: the 
Environment Protection Fund (EPF), which 
is money provided by the previous mine 
operator when they relinquished the lease; 
and the Purchase Price Fund (PPF), which 
is the debt owed by Grange to the value 
of the original purchase price of the mine 
lease. The funding agreement, established 
under the Goldamere Pty Ltd Agreement 
Act 1997, enables Grange to undertake 
agreed remediation works with payment 

Analysis of this data from 2018 to 2022 
commenced, following the previous 
SRRP water quality review (2015-
2017). Results to date indicate the 
continued reduction in concentration 
of metals, including copper, cobalt, nickel 
and manganese over the past decade, 
with a significant reduction since 2016 
correlated with Grange’s construction of 
the South Deposit Tailings Storage Facility 
(SDTSF) on Main Creek. 

•  Entura continued to provide water 
monitoring services to the SRRP, using 
telemetered sondes and rated depth 
gauges to report remote data at 15 
minute intervals from 9 of the SRRP 
monitoring sites for physical parameters 
and water flow. Entura undertook 
a major upgrade of equipment and 
infrastructure at the Savage River at the 
Pump Station site, which is problematic 
due to equipment damage at high flows; 
and reviewed flow gauging at South 
West Rock Dump and Pump Station to 
improve the accuracy of river flow data 
for Savage River at these sites.

 
Aquatic bioassessment survey of Savage River
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•  The sixth aquatic bioassessment 
survey of Savage River was completed 
by Entura. It reflected the results of 
previous surveys, showing a continued 
improvement in the aquatic ecology at 
sites within and downstream of the mine. 
However, there was a substantial increase 
in river health scores in Main Creek, 
which was correlated with improved 
water quality due to the SDTSF, and 
Astacopsis tricornis was recorded for 
the first time since surveys began 
(see Fig 4). While there was an overall 
increase in macroinvertebrate diversity 
and abundance, the report highlighted 
the close similarity in community 
composition between Savage River test 
sites and reference sites in nearby rivers. 

•  The Research Project being undertaken 
by the University of Queensland to 
investigate the potential recovery of 
cobalt from the Old Tailings Dam (OTD) 
commenced with drilling and core 
sampling in September 2021. Five sonic 
holes were drilled, ranging in depth from 
21m to 54.2m, and over 260 samples 
were collected and shipped to Brisbane 
for laboratory analysis. Early findings 
suggest a positive result in terms of the 
quantity and distribution of cobalt. The 
laboratory and pilot scale work will 
continue over the next two years, and it 
is hoped the final report will confirm the 
benefit of an economic feasibility study 
for remining the OTD. 

•  The SRRP agreed to GHD undertaking 
a Stability Assessment of the OTD 
due to its downstream construction 
using cyclonised tailings, to improve 
understanding of the current failure risk. 
Field work commenced in September 
2021 alongside the Cobalt project, 
involving in situ testing (in line with 
industry standards) to assess the 
contractive behaviour of the tailings and 
potential for liquefaction. An additional 
line of piezometers was also installed to 
allow for increased monitoring of the 
phreatic surface within the dam. Findings 
from the field tests and laboratory 
analysis of the tails will be included in 
GHD’s geotechnical assessment report 
due in the next financial year.

•  Grange continued to support SRRP 
activities and undertook agreed 
remediation activities, including monthly 
inspections of the OTD and an annual 
weed management program through 
on-ground and aerial spraying. This 
year, the use of drones was trialed as 
an alternative to helicopters for aerial 
spraying, but the results show helicopters 
are still a more cost-effective method.

•  Work by Grange to complete the 
pipeline connection from the OTD 
collection bund to transfer AMD seeps 
to the SDTSF continued. Previously, the 
OTD seeps were treated in Grange’s 
Main Creek Tailings Dam, but this is 
reaching its final closure level. The plan 
is to divert the seeps from the OTD as 
well as those from B Dump and co-treat 
this legacy pollution along with Grange’s 
current mine tailings in the SDTSF 
until mine closure. The final pipeline 
connection is expected in the next 
financial year.

•  Planning continued for a joint project 
with Grange to investigate South Lens 
to gain a better understanding of the 
lake’s alkaline properties and its capacity 
to neutralise AMD over the long term. 
The imperative for this was strengthened 
with Grange’s redevelopment of Centre 

Pit, commencing with dewatering and 
discharge to South Lens. Consideration 
was given to the potential impact on the 
use of the lake for the passive treatment 
of legacy pollution in the long term. All 
inflows to the lake have been identified 
and an assessment of monitoring 
requirements, including access and 
infrastructure for measuring flow rates 
and analytes will continue. 

•  Follow up discussions were held with 
the University of Tasmania regarding 
research to test the application of metal 
speciation and biotic ligand models, 
developed in the northern hemisphere. 
Since the SRRP began, ecotoxicological 
limits have been assessed using fixed 
copper concentration targets, whereas 
these models assess targets for additional 
metals, including zinc, manganese, cobalt 
and nickel. Specialist advice in recent 
years has recommended considering 
these other contaminants of potential 
concern as copper concentrations have 
reduced significantly.

Figure 4. Juvenile Tasmanian Spiny crayfish Astocopsis tricornis collected from Main Creek (below the 
SDTSF) during the recent bioassessment survey
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Air Quality Management
Reference Level Monitoring

The key air quality issue in Tasmania is 
smoke pollution from domestic wood 
heaters, planned burning and bushfires. In 
accordance with the requirements of the 
National Environment Protection (Ambient 
Air Quality) Measure 2015 (Air NEPM), the 
EPA has continued to measure ambient 
air particles PM10 and PM2.5 (particles 
less than 10 and 2.5 microns in diameter 
respectively) at its three reference level 
stations at Hobart, Launceston and 
Devonport. 

Figure 5 presents PM2.5 data for Launceston 
(Ti Tree Bend air monitoring station) 
showing the number of days on which the 
national 24-hour standard for PM2.5 of 25 
µg/m3 was exceeded. The graph shows 
that these instances arise from bushfires in 
summer, from planned burns in spring and 
early autumn, and from residential wood 
heater smoke in late autumn and winter. 

 
Surburban domestic smoke pollution

 
Burn with a flame to reduce smoke pollution from woodheaters
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Figure 5. The number of days for each year above the national 24-hour PM2.5 standard for Launceston

Performance against National Air Quality Standards set in the Air NEPM

Summaries of the reference data for 2021 are presented in Table 14 below: 

Table 14. Reference level monitoring performance in 2021-22

Station Air quality monitoring results

Launceston, 
Ti-tree Bend

•    There were no measured exceedances of the 24-hour PM10 national 
standard of 50 µg/m3. The annual average PM10 concentration of 15.7 
µg/m3 is below the annual PM10 national standard of 25 µg/m3. 

•    The 24-hour PM2.5 national standard of 25 µg/m3 was exceeded on 6 
days in Launceston. The annual average PM2.5 concentration of 6.6 µg/
m3 is below the annual PM2.5 national standard of 8 µg/m3.

Hobart, New Town

•    There were no measured exceedances of the 24-hour PM10 national 
standard of 50 µg/m3. The annual average PM10 of 11.9 µg/m3 is below 
the annual PM10 national standard of 25 µg/m3. 

•    There were no measured exceedances of the 24-hour PM2.5 national 
standard of 25 µg/m3. The annual average PM2.5 concentration of 5.3 µg/
m3 is below the annual PM2.5 national standard of 8 µg/m3.

Devonport

•    There were no measured exceedances of the 24-hour PM10 national 
standard of 50 µg/m3. The annual average PM10 of 15.0 µg/m3 is below 
the annual PM10 national standard of 25 µg/m3.

•    There were no measured exceedances of the 24-hour PM2.5 national 
standard of 25 µg/m3. The annual average PM2.5 concentration of 5.8 µg/
m3 is below the annual PM2.5 national standard of 8 µg/m3. 

Baseline Level Monitoring

The BLANkET network (Base Line Air 
Network of EPA Tasmania) measures 
indicative level ambient PM2.5 and PM10 
particle concentrations, along with 
meteorological data, at 35 fixed stations 
around Tasmania. The BLANkET monitoring 
instruments are calibrated against the 
reference level instrumentation and the 
particle concentration data is reported 
to the public in near real-time to the EPA 
website with a data availability rate of 
greater than 95 percent across all stations. 
The ‘top’ five towns in Tasmania for winter 
wood smoke pollution in 2021 were 
Hadspen, Perth, New Norfolk, Longford 
and Geeveston. 

Advice on industrial activities and  
air dispersion modelling

The Environment Protection Policy (Air 
Quality) 2004 (Air Quality EPP) sets out a 
management approach to guide regulatory 
authorities and industry in the maintenance 
and improvement of Tasmania’s air quality.  
Air emissions from existing or proposed 
industrial facilities are assessed against the 
criteria provided in the policy. In January 
2022, the EPA Board issued a Statement 
that clarifies how the Board uses and 
implements the Air Quality EPP during the 
environmental impact assessment process. 
The Statement also provides important 
updates to air pollutant design criteria. 

Industrial assessments undertaken in 
2021-22 involved a variety of facilities 
with potential to produce emissions to air, 
including the infrastructure projects, fish 
farming and processing facilities, an abattoir, 
landfills and composting facilities, a wood 
and plastic composite plant, a waste plastic 
processing facility, concrete and asphalt 
plants, a tailing dam, a mine, numerous 
quarries and a hydrogen/ammonia plant.  
Advice was also provided to EPA officers 
on air quality matters related to the 
regulation of existing facilities that include 
fish feed manufacturing facilities, a food 
processing plant, a cement kiln, a lime kiln 
and an electricity generating company. 
Additionally, advice was provided to 
local councils on several environmental 
management issues associated with Level 1 
activities not regulated by the EPA.
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The Water Section represents the EPA 
on technical advisory bodies including: 
the NWQMS Water Quality Policy 
Sub-committee (WQPSC) and Program 
Coordinating Group; the Tamar Estuary 
and Esk Rivers Scientific and Technical 
Committee; Derwent Estuary Program: 
on technical groups for Fisheries Research 
and Development Corporation funded 
projects; and through the Sustainable Marine 
Research Collaboration Agreement. 

The State has Default Guidelines Values 
(DGVs) for all jurisdictional waters for 
freshwater, estuarine, and coastal and 
marine ecosystems, and interim DGVs for 
groundwater. 

Water quality DGVs for toxicants consistent 
with the NWQMS framework continue to 
be reviewed through participation in the 
WQPSC to assist water quality managers 
and regulatory officers. The Australian and 
New Zealand Guidelines for Fresh and 
Marine Water Quality (ANZG 2018) has 
a dedicated interactive website at www. 
waterquality.gov.au and State derived DGVs 
for aquatic ecosystems are available on the 
EPA website. The DGVs and site-specific 
GVs will be used by the EPA Board in setting 
the water quality objectives as detailed in 
the State Policy and the technical guidance 
document.

Water Quality 
Management
Water quality management in Tasmania 
is governed by the State Policy on Water 
Quality Management (1997) and provides 
for the implementation of the National 
Water Quality Management Strategy 
(NWQMS). Key services provided by the 
Water Section are

•  Advice and support to the EPA Board; the 
assessment, regulatory and enforcement 
sections of the EPA; other government 
agencies; state and national technical 
committees; emergency response 
requirements; and to the public.

•  The development of water quality 
technical information and guidance, and 
input into strategic planning and policy for 
water quality at a state and national level.

•  Baseline and strategic water quality 
monitoring programs and maintenance 
of a long-term state-wide water quality 
database to improve baseline knowledge 
of environmental water quality, and to 
support water quality management and 
regulatory action.

During 2021-2022, the Water Section 
provided technical advice and assistance in 
relation to the following:

•  Assessment advice for the proposed 
stormwater management  and estuarine 
water quality monitoring associated with 
the new Bridgewater Bridge, assessment 
of Level 2 activities including Bell Bay 
Aluminium groundwater monitoring 
program, NRM South proposed artificial 
reefs, Bicheno Sewage Treatment Plant 
(STP) (mixing of nutrients in the Old 
Mines Lagoon), Rosebery STP outfall 
and metals levels in the Stitt River, North 
West Ambient Monitoring Reports (Stage 
2) and associated environmental risk 
assessments for Strahan, Stanley, Somerset 
and Turners Beach STPs.

•  The Salmon Environmental Regulation 
Section was assisted in the development 
of licenses for inland fish hatcheries, 
review of IMAS water quality and 
biological assessments for marine 
farming areas, such as the Broadscale 
Environmental Monitoring Programs, 
and the development of proposed 
Environmental Standards.

•  Advice to regulators regarding acid and 
metalliferous drainage in relation to a 
number of mining activities.

Strategic and baseline water quality 
monitoring to assist in water quality 
management planning by the EPA has 
continued in Macquarie Harbour, the Savage 
River Rehabilitation Project and in support 
of the Derwent Estuary Program.  Also, 
monitoring in the Mercury Passage, and 
south-east region including Port Arthur, 
Storm Bay, mouth of the Derwent Estuary 
and north of the D’Entrecasteaux Channel 
to assist in data provision for best available 
reference condition determination and to 
validate (and possibly augment) water quality 
information collected by the aquaculture 
operators. Investigations by the EPA and 
IMAS (studies requested by the EPA) 
provides a strategic framework for ongoing 
targeted monitoring and when completed 
are available on the EPA website.

The EPA has undertaken annual strategic 
monitoring of the volume and extent of 
epiphytic algae growth on shallow reef and 
seagrass habitats across the south-east of 
Tasmania over winter and summer at 122 
sites from Cockle Creek in the south to 
Maria Island in the north. (Figure 6) The 
monitoring improves the understanding of 
fluxes in epiphytic algal growth in response 
to natural coastal processes as well as 
anthropogenic interactions, including salmon 
farming activities. 

Figure 6. 
Lowering grid 

for photographic 
survey of volume 

and extent of 
epiphytic algae 

growth on 
shallow reef and 
seagrass habitats 
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Noise Management
Noise monitoring

The EPA carries out noise surveys to 
assess the impact of potentially noisy 
activities and to provide reference 
measurements for reviewing changes to 
the acoustic environment. The surveys are 
based on high-quality audio recordings and 
typically last one to two weeks.

During 2021-22 the EPA conducted noise 
surveys at various locations to respond 
to complaints regarding noise from fish 
farming activities, ferry noise, noise from 
industrial activities and generator noise 
from regulated and non-regulated sites. 

Locations of the completed noise 
monitoring during 2021-2022 are  
listed below:

• Lake Dobson Road, Russell Falls 
• Manuka Road, Kettering
• Devlyns Road, Birchs Bay
• Ridge Street, Hillwood
• Killora Road, Killora
• Snug Point, North Bruny Island
• Rivington Close, Coningham
• Sunset Boulevard, Clarence Point
• Augustus Street, Beauty Point

The collected noise data are currently 
being analysed for further investigations. 
Where potential nuisance was identified, 
appropriate mitigation measures was 
requested to ensure that nuisance from 
activities are minimised. The EPA plans to 
increase the effort in noise monitoring in 
2022-2023.  

 
Noise monitoring at Princes Wharf, Hobart
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The 2021 winter messaging campaign, from 
July to September, saw a transition to using 
social media alongside print media ads and 
articles targeting community newspapers 
in areas of high household wood smoke 
emissions. 

The EPA also supplied Environmental Health 
Officers with printed education materials 
for letter box drops and a statewide media 
release.

Councils were also supported with a range 
of education materials for use in newsletters 
and websites, including educational videos. 

Planning for the 2022 winter campaign 
commenced in May 2022. Now in its tenth 
year, Burn Brighter has engaged advertising 
and marketing agency Cor Comms to 
update campaign material, give it a refreshed 
look and feel, and help the message stand 
out in the community. The new campaign 
material consists of community press 
advertising, social media advertising and new 
artwork for the EPA website.

Local government engagement 
program

Local Government is a vital part of the 
environmental regulation system in Tasmania 
as local councils issue permits, regulate 
Level 1 activities, and respond to many 
environmental complaints from the public 
including those relating to noise and smoke.

The Local Government Association 
Tasmania (LGAT), and the EPA are working 
together to review the Memorandum 
of Understanding and Action Plan 
that supports improved regulation of 
environmentally relevant activities. This 
includes the EPA providing specialist 
knowledge, training and other tools and 
support to help Councils regulate a range 
of environmental activities. The aim is to 
provide opportunities to share knowledge 
and support improved decision making.

Activities completed in the last financial  
year include:

•  EHA State Conference sponsorship and 
speakers

•  Environmental Health Course Advisory 
Committee Membership to support 
education and professional development 
programs for environmental health 
officers 

•  EPA Website review, new pages 
developed specifically for Environmental 
Health Officers: titled ‘Working Together’ 
and ‘Resources for Local Government’

•  New tools published on the website 
including: Standard Conditions and 
Definitions (for drafting Permits and 
EPN’s) and Noise Complaints Factsheet 
(for directing noise complaints to the 
relevant agency).

Progress has been made in the areas of:

•  Providing EHO’s with specialist advice at 
Professional Development Days

•  Contaminated Land Code, advice to 
Councils on their interim codes. 

Public information

The EPA strives to demonstrate 
transparency in decision making and is 
committed to responding to public interest 
on particular issues through information 
published on its website and broadcast 
via media releases.  The outcomes of 
environmental assessments made by the 
Board or Director (under delegation from 
the Board) are routinely broadcast as media 
statements and published as news stories via 
the EPA website.

In the past year, the EPA produced 37 media 
statements and responded to 108 enquiries 
and requests for interviews from the media 
(refer Table 15). The Mersey River incident in 
January 2022 gave rise to the largest number 
of media enquiries this year, followed by the 
fish mortality event at Petuna Marine Farm 
and the Recycal fire at Rocherlea.

Communications and 
Community Engagement
Sponsorship

The EPA undertakes a sponsorship 
program using money obtained through the 
payment of environmental fines into the 
Environment Protection Fund (EPF), which 
is established under EMPCA. The EPF is 
designed to support projects that protect, 
restore or enhance the environment, reduce 
pollution and promote the sustainable use 
of resources including education and training 
programs that relate to these goals. The 
money is used to support initiatives and 
programs that align with the purpose of the 
Fund with approval by the EPA Board.

In 2021-22, the Board continued as 
the naming rights sponsor of the EPA 
Sustainability Award, one of the Tasmanian 
Community Achievement Awards. This 
sponsorship agreement is valued at around 
$11,000 per year. The Award is designed 
to recognize the practical efforts being 
made in the Tasmanian community towards 
environmental sustainability.

The University of Tasmania won the 2021 
EPA Sustainability Award for its commitment 
to recycling and waste minimisation. They 
have delivered significant changes to bring 
together procurement, re-use, recycling 
and composting by introducing a Waste 
Minimisation Action Plan, that engages the 
entire University community to achieve 
resource recovery and waste minimisation 
objectives.

The EPA is also committed to building 
partnerships with the Environmental Health 
Association (Tas) Inc, through ongoing 
sponsorship of their flagship event. In 
2021-22, the EPA sponsored the EHA (Tas) 
conference, providing $1,500.

Burn Brighter This Winter

The EPA continued its annual Burn Brighter 
This Winter message campaign to encourage 
household wood heater operators to burn 
wood in a way that reduces smoke pollution, 
thereby supporting Councils in their work 
with smoke complaints.

Table 15. Number of EPA news stories and media inquiries  
this year compared with the previous five years

Year 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20 2020-21 2021-22

News Stories 39 38 27 20 37

Media Inquiries 99 62 74 59 108
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Savage River water monitoring
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Coronavirus (COVID-19)  
Pandemic: Response
Throughout the reporting period, EPA staff continued to limit face-
to-face meetings where possible using technologies such as Teams 
meetings, and established working from home arrangements to 
enhance employee safety, flexibility and satisfaction.

Work Health and Safety (WHS)
The EPA complies with the Work Health and Safety Act 2012, 
associated regulations and Codes of Practice. The health and safety 
of our people is of paramount importance at the EPA and we are 
committed to ensuring a safe and healthy work environment for 
our staff in all EPA workplaces. The EPA is committed to ensuring 
that WHS is managed by identifying risks, hazards and addressing 
problems or potential issues. The EPA’s WHS Policy Statement is 
that “safety is everyone’s responsibility” and we all have a role to 
play in identifying, assessing and controlling WHS risks. 

As an independent statutory authority, the EPA is committed 
to developing its own WHS management system. Reviews and 
planning have commenced with the establishment of a WHS 
Committee that will implement the EPA’s WHS Framework. The 
EPA currently uses a combination of NRE Tas and EPA forms, 
policies, procedures and systems.
TABLE 16: The EPA has had the following WHS statistics recorded:

Timeframe

EPA as a Division 
of DPIPWE

1st July 2021 – 
30th Nov 2021

EPA as a State 
Authority

1st Dec 2021 – 
30th June 2022

Number of Hazard 
Reports submitted 
by EPA staff

2 2

Number of Incident 
Reports submitted 
by EPA staff

3 6

Number of Workers 
Compensation claims 
submitted by EPA staff

0 2

Our People, Performance and Culture
As of 30 June 2022, the EPA had 104 permanent employees plus 
one Head of Agency and three senior executive positions.

Of the 104 permanent employees:

 53 female employees (50.96%)
 51 male employees (49.04%)
 
 70 full-time staff - 30 female (42.86%) and 40 are male (57.14%)
 34 part-time staff - 23 female (67.65%) and 11 male (32.35%)

During 2021–22 a priority was the ongoing development of our 
organisational culture with a focus on learning and growth through 
targeted development opportunities, participation in whole-of-
state-service programs and AIIMS and marine pollution response 
training.

Our performance management approach supports ongoing 
development opportunities for our staff.  100 per cent of EPA 
staff had a Performance Management Agreement in place during 
this period.

Staff consultation also plays an important role in helping a shape 
our organisation. During the year staff had the opportunity to 
provide feedback on the draft EPA Strategic Plan 2022-2025, 
comment on the change proposal for the Environmental Regulation 
Division and a number of EPA policies and procedures.

Workplace Diversity
The EPA is striving for a workplace culture that celebrates equality 
and promotes respect. To do this, we need to ensure we have the 
right support, behaviours and leadership in place so that equality 
and respect is something that is inherent in everything we do.

This year we continued to build an inclusive, safe and respectful 
workplace that provides for diversity in our workforce. By working 
together on a number of initiatives, the EPA has taken active steps 
to promote and normalise gender equality and challenge sexism 
and discrimination within the EPA.

The EPA Staff Equality and Respect Survey was open to all 
EPA staff from 2 to 12 May 2022. Thirty-seven responses were 
received with feedback used to assist the EPA Workplace Equality 
and Respect Standards Working Group draft an Action Plan to 
implement the Our Watch standards which promote the safety 
and wellbeing of staff.

The EPA also supports policies and programs such as:

• EPA Gender Equality Principles;

• Our Watch;

• Women Supporting Women in Leadership;

• Women on Boards; and

• Workplace flexibility toolkit 
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Workplace Equality and  
Respect Standards 
The EPA continues to actively promote equality and respect  
for all staff in policies, procedures and practices, such as the  
WERS Communications Strategy to all staff which facilitates the 
WERS Action Plan. Since the EPA separated from NRE Tas on  
1 December 2021, this is the first year that the EPA has reported 
about the implementation of the Our Watch WERS Standards, and 
also the quantifiable statistics regarding gender and classification in 
the workforce.

Tasmanian State Service Indicator Report

KPI 1: Workforce gender proportion overall  
and by classification.

The overall gender proportions of the workforce within the EPA 
as at the reporting date were 49.04% male, 50.96% female, and 0% 
identifying as Indeterminate/Intersex/Unspecified.

Gender proportion by classification as at 30 June 2022.

Male Female
Indeterminate/ 

Intersex/ 
Unspecified

Band 2 (or Equivalent) 0% 100.00% 0%

Band 3 (or Equivalent) 25.00% 75.00% 0%

Band 4 (or Equivalent) 37.50% 62.50% 0%

Band 5 (or Equivalent) 100.00% 0.00% 0%

Band 6 (or Equivalent) 50.00% 50.00% 0%

Band 7 (or Equivalent) 58.82% 41.18% 0%

Band 8 (or Equivalent) 40.00% 60.00% 0%

Band 9 (or Equivalent) N/A N/A N/A

SES 01 50.00% 50.00% 0%

SES 02 100.00% 0% 0%

SES 03 N/A N/A N/A

SES 04 100.00% 0% 0%

KPI 2: Gender proportion in Senior Executive Service 
leadership and employees with management positions (by 
classification) or with direct reports as at 30 June 2022.

Male Female
Indeterminate/ 

Intersex/ 
Unspecified

Band 7 (or Equivalent) 60% 40% 0%

Band 8 (or Equivalent) 40% 60% 0%

Band 9 (or Equivalent) N/A N/A N/A

SES 01 50% 50% 0%

SES 02 100.00% 0% 0%

SES 03 N/A N/A N/A

SES 04 100.00% 0% 0%

KPI 3: Gender proportion of new hires, and permanent and 
long-term promotions by classification

New hires1 by classification and gender for the Financial Year 
ending 30 June 2022.

Male Female
Indeterminate/ 

Intersex/ 
Unspecified

Band 4 (or Equivalent) 0% 100.00% 0%

Band 5 (or Equivalent) 100.00% 0% 0%

Band 6 (or Equivalent) 60.00% 40.00% 0%

1  Within the EPA new hires [excludes/includes] employees and officers that have joined the agency following a Machinery of Government change. New hires also 
[excludes/includes] employees who exit and ‘recommence’ on multiple short-term contracts.

2 Within the EPA a long-term promotion includes any promotion exceeding 12 months.

Permanent and long-term promotions2 by classification and gender for the Financial Year ending 30 June 2022.  

Male
%

Male
HC

Female
%

Female
HC

Indeterminate/ 
Intersex/ 

Unspecified

Indeterminate/ 
Intersex/ 

Unspecified 
HC

Band 6 (or Equivalent) 40.00% 2 60.00% 3

Band 7 (or Equivalent) 40.00% 2 60.00% 3

Band 8 (or Equivalent) 66.67% 2 33.33% 1

SES 01 50.00% 1 50.00% 1

Note - this table only includes position movements input to Empower using the movement code ‘Promotion’ including, ‘Promotions without 
Advertising’ under ED1 Clause 17.

Data relating to long term Higher Duties Allowances has not been included due to the complexities of extracting this information  
from Empower.
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KPI 4: Average salary gap between employees by gender  
and classification as at 30 June 2022.

Gap $ 
(+ female, - male)

Band 2 (or Equivalent) *63942

Band 3 (or Equivalent) 1069

Band 4 (or Equivalent) 426

Band 5 (or Equivalent) **-91866

Band 6 (or Equivalent) 480

Band 7 (or Equivalent) 1500

Band 8 (or Equivalent) 3222

Band 9 (or Equivalent) N/A

SES 01 0

SES 02 **-169150

SES 03 N/A

SES 04 **-271858

*No males employed at this level 
**No females employed at this level

The below table shows the average salaries for each gender 
and classification, and was the basis for the data in the above 
table regarding average salary gap. 

Male Female
Indeterminate/ 

Intersex/ 
Unspecified

Band 2 (or Equivalent) 0 63942 0

Band 3 (or Equivalent) 71049 72118 0

Band 4 (or Equivalent) 85590 86016 0

Band 5 (or Equivalent) 91866 0 0

Band 6 (or Equivalent) 108189 108669 0

Band 7 (or Equivalent) 119463 120963 0

Band 8 (or Equivalent) 129685 132907 0

Band 9 (or Equivalent) N/A N/A N/A

SES 01 140658 140658 0

SES 02 169150 0 0

SES 03 N/A N/A N/A

SES 04 271858 0 0

KPI 5a & 5b: Comparison of staff that use formal flexible 
working arrangements by gender and classification as  
at 30 June 2022.

The EPA does not record this data in any of our systems.

KPI 6: Comparison of staff who use and return from parental 
leave with continued employment for 12 months by gender 
as at 30 June 2022.

# of staff that 
accessed parental 

leave and returned 
to work

% of those who 
returned that are 
still employed as 

at 12 months

Male 2 100%

Female 2 100%

Indeterminate/ 
Intersex/ Unspecified 0 0%

Note – this table includes employees that have taken parental leave 
in the 2020-2021 timeframe.

 Public Interest Disclosures Act
The Public Interest Disclosures Act 2002 (the PID Act) encourages 
and facilitates the making of disclosures about improper conduct of 
public officers or public bodies.

The PID Act provides protection to persons who make disclosures 
in accordance with the Act and establishes a system by which the 
matters disclosed can be investigated and action to rectify any 
deficiencies can be taken.

The EPA is committed to the aims and objectives of the PID Act 
and does not tolerate improper conduct or detrimental action by 
the Agency or its members, officers or employees.

We apply the standard procedures for reporting disclosures that 
were approved by the Ombudsman’s office and  can be found on 
our website.

The EPA did not receive any disclosures either directly or indirectly 
referred via the Ombudsman or the Integrity Commission in the 
reporting period.

Personal Information Protection
Under the Personal Information Protection Act 2004 (the PIP Act), the 
EPA is the custodian of personal information related to its functions 
and activities.

We are committed to protecting each individual’s privacy in the 
way we collect, use or disclose personal information. We also 
ensure that individuals have some control over their personal 
information.

We deal with personal information in accordance with the PIP Act. 
There were no requests in the reporting period under the PIP Act.

Budget, Risk and Audit Committee
The primary role of the committee is to assist the EPA’s CEO 
to fulfil corporate governance responsibilities in overseeing 
and reviewing the Authority’s internal controls, internal audit 
relationships, contract engagement, risk management and statutory 
financial reporting.

The committee comprises three EPA staff members and an 
independent member who is Chair with expertise in corporate 
governance, auditing and financial reporting.
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Websites
At 30 June 2022 the EPA manages the Authority’s website and three web-based applications: 

EPA website (epa.tas.gov.au) - The EPA website provides information about the work of the EPA, including its environmental assessment  
and regulatory functions, and its policies and procedures as an independent statutory authority.

Report Rubbish (rubbish.epa.tas.gov.au) - This simple web application enables the public to easily report littering and dumping on public 
land. It requests information about the type, quantity and location of litter and forwards the report automatically to the relevant land 
manager. A second, parallel, system called the Litter and Dumping Management System (ladms.epa.tas.gov.au) provides land managers with  
a tool for managing reports made 

Litter Reporting System (lrs.epa.tas.gov.au) - This web application facilitates on-line reporting of witnessed littering which can lead to the 
issuing of infringement notices under the Litter Act 2007.

Publications 
The EPA released 57 publications in 2021-22. All publications are available at epa.tas.gov.au and are catalogued in the Tasmanian 
Parliamentary Library, State Library of Tasmania, and National Library of Australia.

Table 17. Register of publications released in 2021-22

TITLE DATE LOCATION ISSN/ISBN 

Default Guideline Values (DGVs) for Aquatic Ecosystems 
of Tasmanian Coastal and Marine Waters August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-090-4

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Little Swanport Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-119-2

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Lower Derwent Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-120-8

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the King-Henty Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-115-4

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Montagu Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-124-6

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Leven Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-117-8

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Mersey Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-123-9

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Meander Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-122-2

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Macquarie Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-121-5

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Little Forester Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-118-5

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Jordan Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-114-7

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Huon Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-112-3

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the King Island Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-116-1

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Duck Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-104-8

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Inglis-Flowerdale Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-113-0

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Emu Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-105-5

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Forth-Wilmot Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-106-2

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Great Lake Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-111-6

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Great Forester-Brid Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-110-9

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Furneaux Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-107-9

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the George Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-108-6

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Derwent Estuary-Bruny Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-103-1

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Gordon-Franklin Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-109-3

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Welcome Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-143-7
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DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the South Esk Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-137-6

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Tamar Estuary Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-139-0

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Ringarooma Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-134-5

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Pitt Water-Coal Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-131-4

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Upper Derwent Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-141-3

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Port Davey Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-132-1

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Wanderer-Giblin Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-142-0

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Rubicon Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-135-2

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Scamander-Douglas Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-136-9

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Swan-Apsley Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-138-3

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Prosser Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-133-8

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Tasman Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-140-6

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Nelson Bay Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-126-0

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the North Esk Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-127-7

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Pipers Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-130-7

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Musselroe-Ansons Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-125-3

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Ouse Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-128-4

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Pieman Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-129-1

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Arthur Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-095-9

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Brumbys Lake Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-100-0

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Cam Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-101-7

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Boobyalla-Tomahawk Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-098-0

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Blythe Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-097-3

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of the Black-Detention Catchment August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-096-6

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of estuarine waters of Tasmania August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-088-1

DGVs for Aquatic Ecosystems of Hydrological 
Region 1 (Tasmanian Inland Waters) August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-091-1

DGVs for Aquatic Ecosystems of Hydrological 
Region 2 (Tasmanian Inland Waters) August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-092-8

DGVs for Aquatic Ecosystems of Hydrological 
Region 3 (Tasmanian Inland Waters) August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-093-5

DGVs for Aquatic Ecosystems of Hydrological 
Region 4 (Tasmanian Inland Waters) August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-089-8

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of coastal and marine waters of Tasmania August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-090-4

DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of Tasmanian inland waters August 2021 Hobart 978-1-74380-094-2

Spatial Layer for DGVs for aquatic ecosystems of 
surface water catchments of Tasmania September 2021 Hobart

Approved Management Method for the disposal of Clean Fill Type 1 and Type 2 March 2022 Hobart 978-0-6454729-0-5

Table 17. Register of publications released in 2021-22, cont.
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Right to Information
The EPA responds to request for information in accordance with 
the Right to Information Act 2009. The Act allows members of the 
public the right to access information held by the government and 
its agencies, with the exception of information deemed by the Act 
to be exempt.

In 2021-22 there were 17 requests for information made to the 
EPA. Twelve requests were received for the period 1 July to 30 
November 2021 when the EPA was a Division of DPIPWE. Five 
requests were received for the period 1 December 2021 to 30 
June 2022 to the EPA as a State Authority 

Gifts, Benefits and Hospitality
The EPA recorded nil declarations during 2021-22. Our Gifts 
Benefits and Hospitality Register is published on the EPA website.

Contracts and Procurement
The EPA undertakes procurement in accordance with the 
mandatory requirements of the Treasurer’s Instructions, including 
ensuring Tasmanian businesses are given every opportunity to 
compete for Authority business. Our policy is to support Tasmanian 
businesses whenever they offer best value for money for the 
government.

Treasurer’s Instruction TI PF-5 requires agencies to detail all 
contracts awarded and procurement processes undertaken 
(excluding consultants) during the 2021-22 financial year which 
value in excess of $50,000.

Company Contract Cost

Marine Solutions 
Tasmania Pty Ltd

Mersey Oil Spill 
Recovery Phase 

Monitoring Program
$63,138 (ex GST)

 
There were no consultancies awarded with a value greater  
than $50,000.

Service Level Agreement: Department 
of Natural Resources and Environment 
Tasmania (NRE Tas)
The EPA established a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with NRE 
Tas upon its separation from the Department on 1 December 
2021. Under the SLA, the Department provides support to 
the EPA including human resources, financial and information 
technology assistance. Adjusted for CPI, the cost of the SLA was 
$1,202,000 for the period 1 December 2021 to 30 June 2022.

Superannuation Certificate
I, Wes Ford, Chief Executive Officer of the EPA, hereby certify that 
the EPA has met its obligations under the Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992 (Cth) in respect of those employees of 
the Authority who are members of complying superannuation 
schemes to which the Authority, through the Department of 
Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania under a Service Level 
Agreement, makes employer superannuation contributions.

Wes Ford
CEO

 
Savage River
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Statement of Certification 

The accompanying Financial Statements of the Environment Protection Authority are in agreement with the 
relevant accounts and records and have been prepared in compliance with the Treasurer’s Instructions 
issued under the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2016 to present fairly the financial transactions 
for the year ended 30 June 2022 and the financial position as at the end of the year. 

At the date of signing we were not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars 
included in the Financial Statements misleading or inaccurate 

 

 

 

 

Wes Ford  

Chief Executive Officer  

21 September 2022  
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  1 

Auditor’s Report 

To the Members of Parliament 

Environmental Protection Authority 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 

Opinion 

I have audited the financial statements of the Environmental Protection Authority (the 
Authority), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022 and 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies, other explanatory notes and the statement of certification by the Chief Executive 
Officer of the Authority. 

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements:  

(a) present fairly, in all material respects, the Authority’s financial position as at 30 June 
2022 and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended 

(b) are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2016 and Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted the audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent of the Authority in 
accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial 
statements in Australia. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. 

The Audit Act 2008 further promotes the independence of the Auditor-General. The Auditor-
General is the auditor of all Tasmanian public sector entities and can only be removed by 
Parliament.  The Auditor-General may conduct an audit in any way considered appropriate 
and is not subject to direction by any person about the way in which audit powers are to be 
exercised. The Auditor-General has for the purposes of conducting an audit, access to all 
documents and property and can report to Parliament matters which in the Auditor-
General’s opinion are significant. 

I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion.  
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Responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer for the Financial Statements 

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, and the financial 
reporting requirements of Section 42 (1) of the Financial Management Act 2016.  This 
responsibility includes such internal control as determined necessary to enable the 
preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for assessing 
the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern unless the Authority’s operations will 
cease as a result of an administrative restructure. The assessment must disclose, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and the appropriateness of using the going 
concern basis of accounting. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.  I also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.  

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.  

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Chief Executive Officer. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Chief Executive Officer’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusion is based on the audit evidence 
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obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Authority to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the Chief Executive Officer regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 

 

 

 
Stephen Morrison 
Assistant Auditor-General 
Delegate of the Auditor-General 
Tasmanian Audit Office 

 

26 September 2022 
Hobart  
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 
30 June 2022 

 Notes 2022 
Actual 

$’000 

Income from continuing operations 

Revenue from Government    

Appropriation revenue – operating 3.1 8 129 

Grants 3.2 25 

Fees and fines 3.3 1 097 

Interest 3.4 19 

Other revenue 3.5 75 

Total income from continuing operations  9 345 

Expenses from continuing operations 

Employee benefits 4.1 6 672 

Depreciation  4.2 54 

Supplies and consumables 4.3 3 834 

Grants and subsidies 4.4 95 

Finance costs 4.5 1 

Other expenses  4.6 10 

Total expenses from continuing operations  10 666 

Net result from continuing operations  (1 321) 

Net result  (1 321) 

Other comprehensive income   

Items that will not be reclassified to net result in subsequent periods   

Changes in property plant and equipment revaluation reserve 8.2 1 

Total other comprehensive income  1 

Comprehensive result  (1 320) 

This Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

The Authority was created on 1 December 2021 therefore there are no original budget estimates or 
comparative information disclosures. 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2022 

 Notes 2022 
Actual 

$’000 

Assets 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 9.1 16 288 

Receivables 5.1 8 493 

Non-financial assets   

Property, plant and equipment 5.2 514 

Right-of-use assets 5.3 20 

Intangibles 5.4 26 

Other assets 5.5 40 

Total assets  25 381 

Liabilities 

Payables 6.1 80 

Lease liabilities 6.2 24 

Employee benefits 6.3 2 941 

Provisions 6.4 8 210 

Other liabilities 6.5 5 229 

Total liabilities  16 484 

Net assets/(liabilities)  8 897 

Equity 

Contributed capital 8.1 10 217 

Reserves 8.2 1 

Accumulated funds  (1 321) 

Total equity  8 897 

This Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

The Authority was created on 1 December 2021 therefore there are no original budget estimates or 
comparative information disclosures. 
 

  



EPA  Annual Report 2021-2247

EPA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

 

Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 30 June 2022 

 Notes 2022 
Actual 

$’000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Cash inflows 

Appropriation receipts – operating  8 129 

Grants – continuing operations  25 

Fees and fines  1 097 

GST receipts  19 

Interest received  17 

Other cash receipts  2 

Total cash inflows  9 290 

Cash outflows 

Employee benefits  6 687 

Supplies and consumables  3 803 

Grants and subsidies  95 

GST payments  219 

Other cash payments  11 

Total cash outflows  10 815 

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities 9.2 (1 525) 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Cash inflows 

Cash inflow on Administrative Restructure  16 061 

Total cash inflows  16 061 

Cash outflows   

Payments for the acquisition on non-financial assets  (219) 

Total cash outflows  (219) 

Net cash from/(used by) investing activities  15 842 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

 Notes 2022 
Actual 

$’000 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Cash inflows 

Receipt of security deposit  2 000 

Total cash inflows  2 000 

Cash outflows 

Repayment of lease liabilities  (29) 

Total cash outflows  (29) 

Net Cash from/(used by) financing activities  1 971 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents held  16 288 

Cash and deposits at the beginning of the reporting period  … 

Cash and deposits at the end of the reporting period 9.1 16 288 

This Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  

The Authority was created on 1 December 2021 therefore there are no original budget estimates or 
comparative information disclosures. 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended 30 June 2022 

 Notes Contributed 
Equity 
 $’000 

Reserves 
 

$’000 

Accumulated 
Funds 
$’000 

Total Equity 
 

$’000 

Balance as at 1 December 2021  … … … … 

Net result  … … (1 321) (1 321) 

Other comprehensive income 8.2 … 1 … 1 

Total comprehensive result  … 1 (1 321) (1 320) 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners: 

Administrative restructure – net 
assets received 

 
8.3 

 
10 217 

 
… 

 
… 

 
10 217 

Total  10 217 … … 10 217 

Balance as at 30 June 2022  10 217 1 (1 321) 8 897 

This Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

The Authority was created on 1 December 2021 therefore there are no original budget estimates or 
comparative information disclosures. 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Note 1: Administered Financial Statements 

The Authority administers, but does not control, certain resources on behalf of the Government as a whole. It is 
accountable for the transactions involving such administered resources but does not have the discretion to deploy 
resources for the achievement of the Authority’s objectives. 

Note 1.1 Schedule of Administered Income and Expenses 

 Notes 2022 
Actual 

$’000 

Administered revenue 

Fees and fines 11.1 3 020 

Total administered revenue  3 020 

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables 11.2 (178) 

Total administered income  2 842  

Administered expenses 

Transfers to the Public Account  2 842 

Total administered expenses  2 842 

Administered net result  … 

Administered comprehensive result  … 

 
This Schedule of Administered Income and Expenses should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.  

The Authority was created on the 1 December 2021 therefore there are no original Administered budget 
estimates or Administered comparative information disclosures. 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Note 1.2 Schedule of Administered Assets and Liabilities 

  Notes 2022 
Actual 

$’000 

Administered assets 

Administered financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 11.6 53 

Receivables 11.3 2 261 

Total administered assets  2 314 

Administered liabilities 

Contract liabilities 11.4 2 314 

Total administered liabilities  2 314 

Administered net assets (liabilities)  … 

Administered equity   

Accumulated funds  … 

Total administered equity  … 

This Schedule of Administered Assets and Liabilities should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.  

The Authority was created on the 1 December 2021 therefore there are no original Administered budget 
estimates or Administered comparative information disclosures. 
 

Note 1.3 Schedule of Administered Changes in Equity 

 Notes Contributed 
Equity 
 $’000 

Accumulated 
funds  
$’000 

Total Equity 
 

$’000 

Balance as at 1 December 2021  … … … 

Total comprehensive result  … … … 

Balance as at 30 June 2022  … … … 

This Schedule of Administered Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes. 

The Authority was created on the 1 December 2021 therefore there are no original Administered budget 
estimates or Administered comparative information disclosures. 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Note 2: Output Schedules 

2.1 Output group information 

The details of the comprehensive result and net assets for the Output Group 1 Environment Protection equate to 
the details contained within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Statement of Financial Position. The 
following outlines expenses by Output. 

The Authority was created on the 1 December 2021, therefore there are no original budget estimates or 
comparative information disclosures. 

Output group 1: Environment Protection 

 2022 
Actual 

$’000 

Expenses by output 

1.1 Environmental Regulation 7 605 

1.2 Environmental Assessment 2 154 

1.3 Finfish Regulation 907 

Total 10 666 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Note 3: Revenue 

Income is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when an increase in future economic benefits 
related to an increase in an asset or a decrease of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 

Income is recognised in accordance with the requirements of AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers or 
AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities, dependent on whether there is a contract with a customer defined by 
AASB 15. 

3.1 Revenue from Government 

Appropriations, whether operating or capital, are recognised as revenues in the period in which the Authority gains 
control of the appropriated funds as they do not contain enforceable and sufficiently specific obligations as defined by 
AASB 15. Except for any amounts identified as carried forward, control arises in the period of appropriation.  

Revenue from Government includes revenue from appropriations, unexpended appropriations rolled over under 
section 23 of the Financial Management Act 2016 and Items Reserved by Law. 

Section 23 of the Financial Management Act allows for an unexpended appropriation at the end of the financial year, 
as determined by the Treasurer, to be issued and applied from the Public Account in the following financial year. The 
amount determined by the Treasurer must not exceed five per cent of an Authority’s appropriation for the financial 
year.  

 2022  
$’000 

Continuing operations 

Appropriation revenue – operating  

   Current year 8 129 

Total revenue from Government from continuing operations 8 129 

3.2 Grants 

Grants revenue, where there is a sufficiently specific performance obligation attached, are recognised when the 
Authority satisfies the performance obligation and transfers the promised goods or services. The Authority typically 
satisfies its performance obligations, and recognises revenue associated with performance obligations, when either 
project milestones are met or when the associated expenditure has been incurred on approved activities. 

Grants revenue without a sufficiently specific performance obligation are recognised when the Authority gains 
control of the asset (typically Cash).  

 2022  
$’000 

National pollutant inventory 25 

Total 25 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

3.3 Fees and fines 

Revenue from the salmonoid marine farming levy is recognised when the Authority satisfies a performance 
obligation, pursuant to the receipt of the levy under the Living Marine Resources Management Act 1995 from the 
Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania.  The Authority satisfies a performance obligation over 
the period the levy is used to fund programs, policy and planning developments.  

Environmental infringement notices and fines, and other fees and fines income is recognised on a straight-line basis. 

 2022  
$’000 

Levies (salmonoid marine farming levy) 1 027 

Environmental infringement notices and fines 59 

Other fees and fines 11 

Total 1 097 

3.4 Interest 

Interest on funds is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method. 

 2022  
$’000 

Interest on cash held in Specific Purpose Account and Trust Account balances 19 

Total 19 

3.5 Other revenue 

Other revenue is recognised when it is probable that the inflow or other enhancement or saving in outflows of 
future economic benefits has occurred and can be measured reliably. 

 2022  
$’000 

Reimbursement of expenses1 75 

Total 75 

1Represents the recovery of costs from an environmental incident. 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Note 4: Expenses 

Expenses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when a decrease in future economic benefits 
related to a decrease in an asset or an increase of a liability has arisen that can be measured reliably. 

4.1 Employee benefits 

Employee benefits include, where applicable, entitlements to wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave, long service 
leave, superannuation and any other post-employment benefits. 

 2022  
$’000 

(a) Employee expenses 

Wages and salaries 4 874 

Annual leave 434 

Long service leave 115 

Sick leave 198 

Overtime and allowances 233 

Superannuation – defined contribution scheme 160 

Superannuation – defined benefit scheme 658 

Total 6 672 

Superannuation expenses relating to defined contribution schemes are paid directly to superannuation funds at a rate 
of 10.0 per cent (2020-21: 9.5 per cent) of salary. In addition, the Authority is required to pay into the Public 
Account a ‘gap’ payment equivalent to 3.45 per cent (2020-21: 3.45 per cent) of salary in respect of employees who 
are members of contribution schemes. 

Superannuation expenses relating to defined benefit schemes relate to payments into the Public Account. The 
amount of the payment is based on an Authority contribution rate determined by the Treasurer, on the advice of 
the State Actuary. The current Authority contribution is 12.95 per cent (2020-21: 12.95 per cent) of salary. 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

(b) Remuneration of key management personnel 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the activities of the Authority, directly or indirectly. 

Remuneration during 2021-22 for key management personnel is set by the State Service Act 2000. Remuneration and 
other terms of employment are specified in employment contracts. Remuneration includes salary, motor vehicle and 
other non-monetary benefits. Long-term employee expenses include long service leave and superannuation 
obligations. 

Acting arrangements 

When members of key management personnel are unable to fulfil their duties, consideration is given to appointing 
other members of senior staff to their position during their period of absence. Individuals are considered members 
of key management personnel when acting arrangements are for more than a period of one month. No staff acted in 
key personnel positions for more than one month in 2021-22. 

2021-22 Key management personnel 

W Ford   Director and Chief Executive Officer 

M Read   Executive Director, Environmental Assessments, from 9 December 2021 

D Cook   Director, Finfish Compliance, from 2 May 2022 

C Ong   Director, Environmental Regulation, from 17 March 2022 

A Paul   Chairperson  

I Cresswell  Board Member 

B Hazell   Board Member 

A Locatelli  Board Member 

M Gifford  Board Member (deputy member) 

 
2022 

  
Short-term benefits 

 
Long-term benefits 

 
Total 

 Salary1 
$’000 

Other benefits2 
$’000 

Superannuation3 
$’000 

Other benefits4 
$’000 

 
$’000 

W Ford 155 10 20 24 209 

M Read 90 3 12 5 113 

D Cook 20 … 3 … 23 

C Ong 38 2 5 … 45 

A Paul 24 … 2 … 26 

I Cresswell 14 … 1 … 15 

B Hazell 14 … 1 … 15 

A Locatelli 14 … 1 … 15 

M Gifford  5 … … … 5 

Total 374 18 45 29 466 
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Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

1All forms of consideration paid and payable for services rendered, compensated absences during the period and any 
leave paid on departure. 
2The cost of providing and maintaining vehicles including lease charges, fuel, car parking and the associated fringe 
benefits tax paid. 
3Based on the superannuation guarantee charge. 
4Movements in annual leave, long service leave entitlements. Negative amounts represent more leave being taken, in 
a given year, than accrued. 

(c) Related party transactions 

AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures requires related party disclosures to ensure that the Financial Statements contain 
disclosures necessary to draw attention to the possibility that the Authority’s financial results may have been affected 
by the existence of related parties and by transactions with such parties.  

This note is not intended to disclose conflicts of interest for which there are administrative procedures in place.  

There are no significant related party transactions requiring disclosure. 

4.2 Depreciation 

All applicable non-financial assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their useful lives in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of their service potential.  

Key estimate and judgement 

Depreciation is provided for on a straight-line method, using rates that are reviewed annually.  

  Major depreciation 
period 

2022  
$’000 

Depreciation 

Right-of-use assets 12 years 30 

Plant and equipment 5 - 10 years 24 

Total 54 
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4.3 Supplies and consumables 

Supplies and consumables are recognised when the items have been received by the Authority. 

 2022  
$’000 

Professional and other contract services1 2 965 

Property services 226 

Travel and transport 195 

Administrative costs (printing, publications, office supplies) 120 

Employee costs (including training, recruitment, WHS) 82 

Equipment costs 71 

Information technology 51 

Communications 51 

Audit fees – financial audit 35 

Advertising and promotions 25 

Other supplies and consumables 13 

Total 3 834 

Audit fees paid or payable to the Tasmanian Audit Office for the audit of the Authority’s Financial Statements were 
$35 000. 
1The figure includes $1.30 million in costs associated with the Mersey River Marine Incident. The costs will form part 
of the cost recovery request from the insurers of the CSL Australia Ltd vessel for which the Authority holds a 
financial security of $2.0 million. The figure also includes $1.27 million representing the Service Level Agreement 
between the Authority and the Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania. 

4.4 Grants and subsidies 

Grants and subsidies are recognised to the extent that: 

• The services required to be performed by the grantee have been performed; or 

• The grant eligibility criteria have been satisfied. 

A liability is recorded when the Authority has a binding contractual obligation to pay the grant, but services have not 
been performed or criteria satisfied. Where grant monies are paid in advance of performance or eligibility, a 
prepayment is recognised. 

 2022  
$’000 

Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania – Salmon Environmental Management  60 

Fisheries Research and Development Corporation – Storm Bay Project 30 

Other 5 

Total 95 
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4.5 Finance costs 

Finance costs consist of interest on finance lease charges. Finance costs are expensed as they are incurred using the 
effective interest method. 

 2022  
$’000 

Interest on lease liabilities 1 

Total 1 

4.6 Other expenses 

Other expenses are recognised when the associated service and supply have been provided. 

   2022  
$’000 

Workers compensation 2 

Financial expenses 8 

Total 10 
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Note 5: Assets 

Assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that the future economic benefits 
will flow to the Authority and the asset has a cost or other value that can be reliably measured. 

5.1 Receivables 

Receivables are initially recognised at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Trade receivables that 
do not contain a significant financing component are measured at the transaction price.  

Receivables are held with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. Any subsequent changes are recognised in the net result for the 
year when impaired, derecognised or through the amortisation process. An allowance for expected credit losses is 
recognised for all debt financial assets not held at fair value through profit and loss. The expected credit loss is based 
on the difference between the contractual cash flows and the cash flows that the entity expects to receive, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.  

For trade receivables, a simplified approach in calculating expected credit losses is applied, with a loss allowance 
based on lifetime expected credit losses recognised at each reporting date. The Authority has established a provision 
matrix based on its historical credit loss experience for trade receivables, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the receivable. 

A debt agreement between the Tasmanian Government and Grange Resources has been recognised. When 
Goldamere Pty Ltd, trading as Grange Resources, entered into an agreement with the Crown to purchase the Savage 
River Mine and the Port Latta Pelletising Plant, it was agreed that Goldamere Pty Ltd would pay $13.0 million to the 
State in instalments. This was to fund the remediation of pollution arising from historical mining operations (pre-
1987). The debt was secured by a fixed and floating charge and a freehold mortgage over all the assets and 
undertakings of Goldamere Pty Ltd. Subsequently, through a Deed of Variation, the debt was also secured by a bank 
guarantee of $2.8 million. In accordance with a strategic plan jointly developed under the agreement, the company is 
required to complete remediation works to the value of the outstanding debt. A corresponding provision for 
remediation works has been recognised. Refer to Note 6.4. 

 2022  
$’000 

Receivables 8 500 

Less: Expected credit loss (7) 

Total 8 493 

  

Fees and fines 2 

Loan receivable (Grange Resources) 8 210 

Tax assets 204 

Other receivables 77 

Total 8 493 

  

Settles within 12 months 3 156 

Settled in more than 12 months 5 337 

Total 8 493 
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 2022  
$’000 

Reconciliation of movements in expected credit loss for receivables  

Carrying amount at 1 December … 

Amounts written off during the year 113 

Increase due to Administrative Restructure (120) 

Carrying amount at 30 June (7) 

For ageing analysis of the financial assets, refer to note 10.1. 

5.2 Property, plant and equipment 

 Key estimate and judgement 

(i) Valuation basis 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at fair value less accumulated depreciation.  All other non-current 
physical assets, including work in progress, are recorded at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.  All assets within a class of assets are measured on the same basis. 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The costs of self-constructed 
assets include the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a 
working condition for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on 
which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised 
as part of that equipment.  

When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

Fair value is based on the highest and best use of an asset, unless there is an explicit Government policy to the 
contrary, the highest and best use of an asset is the current purpose for which the asset is being used or build 
occupied. 

For fair value disclosures, the Authority has determined classes of assets on the basis of the nature, characteristics 
and risks of the asset or liability and the level of fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

In addition, the Authority determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-
assessing categorisation at the end of each reporting period. 

There were no transfers of assets between fair value hierarchy levels during the current period. 

(ii) Subsequent costs 

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of the 
item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Authority and its 
costs can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The costs of day-to-day 
servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit and loss as incurred. 

(iii) Asset recognition threshold 

The asset capitalisation threshold adopted by the Authority is $10 000. Assets valued at less than $10 000 are 
charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year of purchase (other than where they form part of a 
group of similar items which are material in total). 

(iv) Revaluations 

Plant and equipment is assessed annually by the Authority staff with expertise in its use to review possible 
impairment and to identify any amendments required to its remaining useful life. 

(v) Held by and use 

All property, plant and equipment is held and used by the Authority. 
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 2022  
$’000 

(a) Carrying amount 

Buildings  

At fair value 13 

Less: accumulated depreciation (3) 

Total 10 

  

Leasehold improvements  

Work in progress (at cost) 217 

Total 217 

  

Plant, equipment and vehicles  

At cost 3 279 

Less: accumulated depreciation (2 992) 

Total 287 

Total property, plant and equipment 514 

(b) Reconciliation of movements  

2022 Buildings  
 

$’000 

Leasehold 
Improvements 

$’000 

Equipment  
 

$’000 

Total      
 

$’000 

Carrying value at 1 December … … … … 

Additions … 203 14 217 

Additions – Administrative Restructure 9 14 297 320 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 1 … … 1 

Depreciation … … (24) (24) 

Carrying value at 30 June 10 217 287 514 
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5.3 Right-of-use assets 

AASB 16 Leases requires the Authority to recognise a right-of-use asset, where it has control of the underlying asset 
over the lease term. A right-of-use asset is measured at the present value of initial lease liability, adjusted by any 
lease payments made at or before the commencement date and lease incentives, any initial direct costs incurred, and 
estimated costs of dismantling and removing the asset or restoring the site.  

The Authority has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities arising from short-term leases, 
rental arrangements for which the Department of Treasury and Finance has substantive substitution rights over the 
assets and leases for which the underlying asset is of low-value. Substantive substitution rights relate primarily to 
office accommodation. An asset is considered low value when it is expected to cost less than $10 000.  

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the term of the lease. Where the 
Authority obtains ownership of the underlying leased asset or if the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the 
Authority will exercise a purchase option, the Authority depreciates the right-of-use asset over its useful life. 

 Buildings 
$’000 

Carrying value at 1 December  … 

Additions – Administrative Restructure 20 

Depreciation (30) 

Other movements (reassessment of lease terms) 30 

Carrying value at 30 June 20 

5.4 Intangibles 

An intangible asset is recognised where: 

• It is probable that an expected future benefit attributable to the asset will flow to the Authority; and 

• The cost of the asset can be reliably measured. 

Intangibles with a finite useful life 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. Subsequently, intangible assets, with finite useful lives, are carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation/amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Costs incurred subsequent to 
initial acquisition are capitalised when it is expected that additional future economic benefits will flow to the 
Authority. 

 2022  
$’000 

(a) Carrying amount 

At cost 250 

Less: accumulated depreciation (224) 

Total 26 
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(b) Reconciliation of movements  

 2022 
$’000 

Carrying value at 1 December … 

Additions - Administrative Restructure 26 

Carrying value at 30 June 26 

5.5 Other assets 

Other assets comprise prepayments. Prepayments relate to actual transactions that are recorded at cost.  

(a) Carrying value 

 2022  
$’000 

Prepayments 40 

Total 40 

  

Recovered within 12 months 40 

Total 40 

(b) Reconciliation of movements 

Carrying value as at 1 July … 

Additions 40 

Carrying value at 30 June 40 
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Note 6: Liabilities 

Liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will result from the settlement of a present obligation and the amount at which the 
settlement will take place can be measured reliably. 

6.1 Payables 

Payables, including goods received and services incurred but not yet invoiced, are recognised at amortised cost, 
which, due to the short settlement period, equates to face value when the Authority becomes obliged to make 
future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services. 

 2022  
$’000 

Creditors 46 

Accrued expenditure 34 

Total 80 

  

Settled within 12 months 80 

Total 80 

Settlement of payables is usually made within 14 days  

6.2 Lease liabilities 

A lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The discount 
rate used to calculate the present value of the lease liability is the rate implicit in the lease. Where the implicit rate is 
not known and cannot be determined the Tasmanian Public Finance Corporation indicative lending rate including the 
relevant administration margin is used.  

The Authority has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities arising from short-term leases, 
rental arrangements for which the Department of Treasury and Finance has substantive substitution rights over the 
assets and leases for which the underlying asset is of low-value. Substantive substitution rights relate primarily to 
office accommodation. An asset is considered low-value when it is expected to cost less than $10 000.  

The Authority has entered into the following leasing arrangements: 

Class of right-of-use asset Details of leasing arrangement 

Office accommodation One office building (Short Street, Ulverstone) 

 2022  
$’000 

Current  

Lease liabilities  24 

Non-current  

Lease liabilities  … 

Total 24 
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Maturity analysis of lease liabilities 

 2022  
$’000 

One year or less 24 

From two to three years … 

From four to five years … 

Total 24 

The lease liability in the maturity analysis is presented using undiscounted contractual amounts before deducting 
finance charges. 

The following amounts are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 2022  
$’000 

Interest on lease liabilities included in Note 4.5 1 

Lease expenses included in Note 4.3:  

  Lease of low-value assets 1 

Net expenses from leasing activities 2 

6.3 Employee benefit liabilities 

Key estimate and judgement 

Liabilities for wages and salaries and annual leave are recognised when an employee becomes entitled to receive a 
benefit. Those liabilities expected to be realised within 12 months are measured as the amount expected to be paid. 
Other employee entitlements are measured as the present value of the benefit at 30 June, where the impact of 
discounting is material, and at the amount expected to be paid, if discounting is not material.  

A liability for long service leave is recognised and is measured as the present value of expected future payments to 
be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. The Authority makes a number of 
assumptions regarding the probability that staff who have accrued long service leave, but are ineligible to take it, will 
remain with the Authority long enough to take it. For those staff eligible to take their long service leave, the 
Authority assumes that they will utilise it, on average, evenly over the following 10 years. All long service leave that 
will be settled within 12 months is calculated at nominal value, and all long service leave that will be settled in greater 
than 12 months is calculated at present value. 

Sick leave entitlements are not vested in employees and are not considered to give rise to a liability, and therefore 
no provision has been made. 

The Authority does not recognise a liability for the accruing superannuation benefits of departmental employees. 
This liability is held centrally and is recognised within the Finance-General Division of the Department of Treasury 
and Finance. 
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 2022  
$’000 

Accrued salaries 273 

Annual leave  774 

Long service leave 1 894 

Total 2 941 

Expected to settle wholly within 12 months  1 194 

Expected to settle wholly after 12 months 1 747 

Total 2 941 

6.4 Provisions 

Key estimate and judgement 

A provision arises if, as a result of a past event, the Authority has a present legal or constructive obligation that can 
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. 
Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. Any right to reimbursement relating to 
some or all of the provision is recognised as an asset when it is virtually certain that the reimbursement will be 
received. 

As per Note 5.1, an asset has been recognised in these accounts for a debt agreement between the Tasmanian 
Government and Grange Resources. In accordance with a strategic plan jointly developed under the agreement, the 
company is required to complete remediation works to the value of the outstanding debt. On that basis, the debt 
has been recognised as a non-financial asset. A corresponding loan receivable for remediation works has been 
recognised. 

(a) Carrying amount 

 2022  
$’000 

Grange Resources debt agreement 8 210 

Total  8 210 

  

Settled within 12 months 2 875 

Settled in more than 12 months 5 335 

Total 8 210 

(b) Reconciliation of movements in provisions 

Balance at 1 December … 

Additions – Administrative Restructure 7 818 

Increases 510 

Charges (118) 

Balance as at 30 June 8 210 
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 2022  
$’000 

6.5 Other liabilities 

Other liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will result from the settlement of a present obligation and the amount at 
which the settlement will take place can be measured reliably. 

 2022  
$’000 

Environment bonds1 3 175 

Security deposit2 2 000 

Employee benefit on-costs 54 

Total  5 229 

  

Settled within 12 months 2 018 

Settled in more than 12 months 3 211 

Total 5 229 

1Pursuant to the Goldamere Pty Ltd (Agreement) Act 1996, $3.18 million is held as financial assurance for the 
rehabilitation of Mining Lease Areas occupied by Goldamere Pty Ltd trading as Australian Bulk Minerals. In 
accordance with the Agreement, interest is paid annually on the accumulative total of the bond. The financial 
assurance is held for the duration of the rehabilitation works by Australian Bulk Minerals. 
2A collision between a commercial vessel, and two berthed and stationary TasPorts tugboats took place at the Port 
of Devonport on the 28 January 2022. A Level 2 marine pollution incident was immediately declared by the Director 
of the Authority. The Director used powers under the Marine-related Incident (MARPOL Implementation) Act 2020 to 
require a security deposit of $2.0 million from the owner of the commercial vessel, CSL Australia Ltd, as part of the 
claimable costs, which are recoverable from the vessel insurers for managing the Authority’s lead response. This 
money is held in trust account T747 EPA Tasmania Financial Security Account until the insurance matter is resolved. 
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Note 7: Commitments and contingencies 

7.1 Schedule of commitments 

Commitments represent those contractual arrangements entered into by the Authority that are not reflected in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position, excluding short 
term leases and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value, which are recognised as an expense in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

 2022  
$’000 

By type  

Capital commitments  

Leasehold improvements1 359 

Total capital commitments 359 

  

Other commitments  

Property tenancies 8 762 

Motor vehicle fleet 48 

Total other commitments 8 810 

  

By maturity  

Capital commitments  

One year or less 359 

Total capital commitments 359 

  

Other commitments  

One year or less 642 

From one to five years 2 770 

Over five years 5 398 

Total other commitments 8 810 

Total 9 169 

1Major leasehold improvements includes the building modifications at 40 Elizabeth Street.  
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Capital commitments 

Capital commitments include contracts with a value of $50 000 and above. Capital payments are determined by the 
value of the contract and the timing of the completion of the work. 

Other commitments 

Properties 

Major office accommodation leases are executed by the Department of Treasury and Finance (Treasury). 

As there is no lease contract between Treasury and the Authority, for the purposes of AASB 16 Leases, the 
Authority is not required to recognise a lease liability and right-of-use asset for major office accommodation. The 
Authority will recognise the outgoings associated with the occupation of these major office accommodation spaces 
as expenses. 

The Authority recognises a commitment for the term of occupancy in the major office accommodation spaces. 

Property lease payments are determined by the price per square metre of the leased area as agreed in the lease 
documents. 

Terms of leases are set for specific periods with options to extend in most instances.  

Leases contain provision for price rates to be adjusted in accordance with market rates.  

Lease agreements do not contain provision for purchase on cessation. 

Lease agreements do not contain provision for make-good. 

Motor vehicles 

The Authority’s motor vehicle fleet is owned and managed by Treasury. Treasury is the central agency which 
purchases vehicles on behalf of the Authority. The Authority pays a monthly payment to Treasury via LeasePlan 
Australia for use of the vehicles. 

As there is no lease contract between Treasury and the Authority, for the purposes of AASB 16 Leases, the 
Authority is not required to recognise a lease liability and right-of-use asset for motor vehicles, and costs are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. 

The Authority recognises a commitment for the terms of motor vehicle agreements. 

Payments vary according to the type of vehicle and, where applicable, the price received for replaced vehicles. 

Agreement terms are for a maximum of three years or specific kilometres, whichever occurs first, with no change to 
the rate. 

No restrictions or purchase options are contained in the lease agreements. 

7.2 Contingent assets and liabilities 

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Statement of Financial Position due to uncertainty 
regarding any possible amount or timing of any possible underlying claim or obligation. 

(a) Quantifiable contingencies 

A quantifiable contingent asset is any possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the entity.  

The Authority does not have any quantifiable contingent assets. 

A quantifiable contingent liability is any possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will be 
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the entity; or any present obligation that arises from past events but is not recognised because it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. To the 
extent that any quantifiable contingencies are insured, details provided below are recorded net. 

• A second major capital project is expected to be awarded in early August 2022 for approximately $470 000. 
This capital project relates to the office fit out at 40 Elizabeth Street. 
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(b) Unquantifiable contingencies 

The Authority does not have any unquantifiable contingent liabilities. 

Note 8: Equity 

8.1 Contributed capital 

Contributed capital is the accumulation of net assets received under restructuring of administrative arrangements by 
owners and net assets relinquished are designated as distributions to owners adjusted directly against equity. 
Contributed capital includes: 

• Effective, 1 December 2021, the Environment Protection Authority was established as a standalone 
independent State Authority, separated from the Department of Natural Resources and Environment 
Tasmania. Total contribution capital received from the Department of Natural Resources and Environment 
Tasmania, for no consideration, amounted to $10.22 million. 

8.2 Reserves 

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets 
and investments in equity instruments recognised at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

Net revaluation decreases are recognised in ‘other comprehensive income’ to the extent that a credit balance exists 
in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of asset. Otherwise, the net revaluation decreases are 
recognised immediately as other economic flows in the net result. The net revaluation decrease recognised in ‘other 
comprehensive income’ reduces the amount accumulated in equity under the asset revaluation reserve. 

Net revaluation increases are recognised in ‘other comprehensive income’ and accumulated in equity under the asset 
revaluation reserve. However, the net revaluation increase is recognised in the net result to the extent that it 
reverses a net revaluation decrease in respect of the same class of asset previously recognised as an expense (other 
economic flows) in the net result. 

Revaluation increases and decreases relating to individual assets in a class of assets are offset against one another in 
that class but are not offset in respect of assets in different classes. The asset revaluation reserve is not transferred 
to accumulated funds on de-recognition of the relevant asset. 

2022   Buildings 
$’000 

Asset revaluation reserve   

Balance at beginning of financial year … 

Revaluation increments/(decrements) 1 

Balance at end of financial year 1 
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8.3 Administrative restructuring 

Net assets received under a restructuring of administrative arrangements are designated as contributions by owners 
and adjusted directly against equity. Net assets relinquished are designated as distributions to owners. Net assets 
transferred are initially recognised at the amounts at which they were recognised by the transferring Department 
immediately prior to the transfer.  

As a result of the State Service (Restructuring) Order (No 2) 2021, effective 1 December 2021, the Environment 
Protection Authority was formed, as a standalone independent State Authority. Existing Environment Protection 
Authority functions and activities within the Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania were 
transferred to the new Authority. 

In respect of activities assumed, the net book values of assets and liabilities transferred to the Authority from the 
Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania for no consideration and recognised as at the date of 
transfer were: 

   2022  
$’000 

Contribution by owners  

   Cash and cash equivalents 16 061  

   Receivables 7 939 

   Expected credit loss (120) 

   Property, plant and equipment 320 

   Intangibles 26 

   Right-of-use-assets 20 

Total assets recognised 24 246 

   Payables (6) 

   Lease liabilities (23) 

   Employee benefits liabilities (2 959) 

   Provisions (7 818) 

   Other liabilities (3 223) 

Total liabilities recognised (14 029) 

Net assets (liabilities) assumed on restructure 10 217 

Net contribution by the Government as owner during the period 10 217 
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   2022  
$’000 

Revenue  

Recognised by the Authority 9 232 

Recognised by the Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania  4 440 

Total revenues 13 672 

Expenses  

Recognised by the Authority 10 662 

Recognised by the Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania 5 090 

Total expenses 15 752 
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Note 9: Cash flow reconciliation 

Cash means notes, coins, any deposits held at call with a bank or financial institution, as well as funds held in the 
Specific Purpose Accounts, being short term of three months or less and highly liquid. Deposits are recognised at 
amortised cost, being their face value.  

9.1 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include the balance of the Specific Purpose Accounts held by the Authority, and other 
cash held, excluding those accounts which are administered or held in a trustee capacity or agency arrangement. 

   2022  
$’000 

Specific Purpose Account and Trust Account balances  

EPA Financial Management Account (S530)1 15 639 

Environment Protection Fund (T743)2 (1 351) 

EPA Tasmania Financial Security Account (T747)3 2 000 

Total cash and cash equivalents 16 288 

Explanation for significant cash and deposit balances at 2021-22: 
1This is the Authority’s general operating account and balances consisting of the Savage River Rehabilitation Program, 
the Goldamere Pty Ltd remediation funds and other funds used to finance various projects in the Authority. 
2This is the Authority’s Environment Protection Fund established for the purposes of conducting activities under the 
Environmental Management and Pollution Control Act 1994. The account is currently in overdraft due to the funding of 
the Mersey River Marine Incident. The account has an approved overdraft facility of up to $5.0 million. The overdraft 
will incur interest, at a rate equivalent to the overdraft rate of the Government’s banker, charged by the 
Department of Treasury and Finance until the incident is resolved. This deficit is expected to be resolved through 
the subsequent insurance claim resulting from the incident. 
3This is the Authority’s trust account created to hold the security from CSL Australia Ltd as part of the claimable 
costs, which are recoverable from the vessel insurers in relation to the Mersey River Marine Incident. 

  



EPA  Annual Report 2021-2275

EPA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

 

Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

9.2 Reconciliation of net result to net cash from operating activities 

  Notes 2022 
 $’000 

Net result  (1 321) 

Depreciation 4.2 54 

Decrease (increase) in receivables  (282) 

Decrease (increase) in other assets  (40) 

Increase (decrease) in payables  74 

Increase (decrease) in employee benefits  (15) 

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities  4 

Net cash from/(used by) operating activities  (1 525) 

9.3 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financial activities 

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, 
classified in the Statement of Cash Flows as cash flows from financing activities. 

2022   Lease 
liabilities 

 $’000 

Balance as at 1 December  … 

Additions due to Administrative Restructure 24 

Other movements (reassessment of lease terms) 30 

Changes from financing cash flows:  

   Cash Repayments (30) 

Balance as at 30 June 24 
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Note 10: Financial instruments 

10.1 Risk exposures 

(a)  Risk management policies 

The Authority has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk; 

• Liquidity risk; and 

• Market risk. 

The Accountable Authority has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Authority’s risk 
management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse risks faced by the 
Authority, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 

(b)  Credit risk exposures 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Authority if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations.  

Financial 
instrument 

Accounting and strategic policies 
(including recognition criteria, 

measurement basis and credit quality of 
instrument) 

Nature of underlying instrument 
(including significant terms and 

conditions affecting the amount, 
timing and certainty of cash flows) 

Receivables  Receivables are recognised at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Trade 
receivables are measured at the transaction 
price.  

Credit risk in relation to debtors is managed 
through internal policies and procedures 
governing both the manner and timeframes of 
the recovery of overdue debts.  

Receivables that are neither past due nor 
impaired are considered to be of sound credit 
quality. 

The Authority offers 30-day terms of trade. 

The loan receivable with Grange Resources 
is secured by a bank guarantee with a 
strategic plan developed under the 
agreement detailing the remediation works 
required to satisfy the value of the 
outstanding debt. 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

Cash and deposits are recognised at face value 
and managed on a whole-of-government basis 
by the Department of Treasury and Finance. 

Cash means notes, coins and deposits held 
at call. 

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the Financial Statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the Authority’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account any collateral or other 
security. 

Expected credit loss analysis of receivables 

The simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses is applied, which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance 
for all trade receivables.  

The expected loss rates are based on historical observed loss rates adjusted for forward looking factors that will 
have an impact on the ability to settle the receivables. The loss allowance for trade debtors as at 30 June are as 
follows: 
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2022 Not past 
due  

 
$’000 

Past due 
1-30 days  

 
$’000 

Past due 
31-60 
days  

$’000 

Past due 
61-151 

days  
$’000 

Past due 
151+ days  

 
$’000 

Total  
 
 

$’000 

Expected credit loss rate (A) 0.0% 2.6% 0.0% 29.2% 100%  

Total gross carrying amount (B) 77 1 .. 1 7 86 

Expected credit loss (A x B)1 … … … … 7 7 

1The expected credit loss is calculated on each individual output’s revenue streams. The expected credit loss rate 
shown is based on the calculated expected credit loss/total gross carrying amount. 

(b)  Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Authority will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 
Authority’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities 
when they fall due. No changes have been made to the liquidity risk policy and methods from the previous year. 

Financial 
instrument 

Accounting and strategic policies 
(including recognition criteria, 

measurement basis and credit quality of 
instrument) 

Nature of underlying instrument 
(including significant terms and 

conditions affecting the amount, timing 
and certainty of cash flows) 

Payables The Authority’s liquidity is managed on a 
whole-of-government basis by the Department 
of Treasury and Finance. The Authority uses 
the annual budget to assist in liquidity 
management. In addition, the Authority 
manages cash outflows through ensuring all 
payments are made in accordance with creditor 
terms. 

The Authority has negotiated 30-day terms 
of trade with the majority of its suppliers.  

Payments are made within 14 days of receipt 
of supplier invoices. 

Other financial 
liabilities 

The major component is an Environmental 
Bond relating to specific work to be completed. 

The interest is repayable per terms of the 
agreement. 

Maturity analysis for financial liabilities 

The following tables detail the undiscounted cash flows payable by the Authority under remaining contractual 
maturity for its financial liabilities. It should be noted that as these are undiscounted, totals may not reconcile to the 
carrying amounts presented in the Statement of Financial Position. 

2022 1 year 
 
 

$’000 

2 years 
 
 

$’000 

3 years 
 
 

$’000 

4 years 
 
 

$’000 

5 years 
 
 

$’000 

More 
than 5+ 

years 
$’000 

Un-
discounted 

total 
$’000 

Carrying 
amount 

 
 $’000 

Payables 80 … … … … … 80 80 

Other financial 
liabilities 

 
2 000 

 
… 

 
… 

 
… 

 
… 

 
3 175 

 
5 175 

 
5 175 

Total 2 080 … … … … 3 175 5 255 5 255 
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(d) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices. The primary market risk that the Authority is exposed to is interest rate risk. No changes have been 
made to the market risk policy and methods from the previous year. 
The Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk is considered immaterial. Minimisation of this risk is achieved by 
mainly undertaking non-interest-bearing financial instruments. The majority of the Authority’s interest-bearing 
financial instruments are managed by the Department of Treasury and Finance. 
At the reporting date, the interest rate profile of the Authority’s interest-bearing financial instruments was: 

 2022  
$’000 

Variable rate instruments  

Financial assets 15 494 

Total 15 494 

Total financial assets includes the T743 Environment Protection Fund. This account is currently in overdraft due to 
the funding of the Mersey River Marine Incident. The account has an approved overdraft facility of up to $5 million. 
The overdraft will incur interest, at a rate equivalent to the overdraft rate of the Government’s banker, charged by 
the Department of Treasury and Finance until the incident is resolved. This deficit is expected to be resolved 
through the subsequent insurance claim resulting from the incident. 

Sensitivity analysis of the Authority’s exposure to possible changes in interest rate 

Changes in variable rates of 100 basis points at reporting date would have the following effect on the Authority’s 
profit or loss and equity: 

 Statement of 
Comprehensive Income 

 
Equity 

 100 basis 
point 

increase 
$’000 

100 basis 
point 

decrease 
$’000 

100 basis 
point 

increase 
$’000 

100 basis 
point 

decrease 
$’000 

30 June 2022     

Cash in Specific Purpose Account and Trust Account 
balances 

 
155 

 
(155) 

 
155 

 
(155) 

Net sensitivity 155 (155) 155 (155) 

The analysis assumes all other variables remain constant. 

10.2 Categories of financial assets and liabilities 

 2022  
$’000 

Financial assets  

Cash and cash equivalents 16 288 

Loans and receivables 8 295 

Total 24 582 



EPA  Annual Report 2021-2279

EPA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

 

Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Financial liabilities  

Payables 80 

Other liabilities 5 175 

Total 5 255 

10.3 Comparison between carrying amount and net fair value of financial assets and liabilities  

Financial Assets 

The net fair values of cash and non-interest bearing monetary financial assets approximate their carrying amounts. 

Financial Liabilities 

The net fair values of trade creditors and other liabilities approximate their carrying amounts. 

10.4 Net fair value of financial assets and liabilities 

2022 Net Fair 
Value 

Level 1 
$’000 

Net Fair 
Value 

Level 2 
$’000 

Net Fair 
Value 

Level 3 
$’000 

Net Fair 
Value 
Total 
$’000 

Financial assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 16 288 … … 16 288 

Loans and receivables 8 295 … … 8 295 

Total financial assets 24 583 … … 24 583 

Financial liabilities (recognised)     

Payables 80 … … 80 

Other financial liabilities 5 175 … ... 5 175 

Total financial liabilities (recognised) 5 255 … ... 5 255 

The recognised fair values of financial assets and liabilities are classified according to the fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making these measurements. The Authority uses various methods in 
estimating the fair value of financial instruments. The methods comprise: 

• Level 1 – the fair value is calculated using quoted prices in active markets. 

• Level 2 – the fair value is estimated using inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices). 

• Level 3 – the fair value is estimated using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable 
market data. 
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Note 11: Notes to Administered Statements 

11.1 Administered fees and fines 

For significant accounting policies relating to administered fees and fines refer to Note 3.3. 

 2022  
$’000 

Environment permits 2 759 

Environment permit assessment fees 246 

Environment permit protection notices 15 

Total  3 020 

11.2 Administered net gain/(loss) on financial instruments and statutory receivables/payables 

Financial assets are impaired under the expected credit loss approach required under AASB 9 Financial Instruments. 
The expected credit loss is recognised for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.  

Key judgement 

An impairment loss using the expected credit loss method for all trade debtors uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. The expected loss rates are based upon historical observed loss rates that are adjusted to reflect forward 
looking macroeconomic factors.   
For other financial instruments that are not trade receivables, contract assets or lease receivables, the Authority has 
measured the expected credit loss using a probability-weighted amount that takes into account the time value of 
money and forward-looking macroeconomics. 

 
 

2022  
$’000 

   Expected credit loss (178) 

Total net gain/(loss) on financial instruments (178) 

11.3 Administered receivables 

For significant accounting policies relating to administered receivables refer to Note 5.1. 

 2022  
$’000 

Receivables 1 162 

Less: Expected credit loss (330) 

Other receivables – Transfers to the Public Account (unearned revenue)1 1 429 

Total  2 261 

1Represents revenue transferred to the Public Account not yet recognised. 
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 2022  
$’000 

Fees and fines 832 

Other receivables 1 429 

Total 2 261 

  

Settled within 12 months 2 261 

Total 2 261 

  

Reconciliation of movements in expected credit loss for receivables  

Carrying amount at 1 December … 

Amounts written off during the year 8 

Increase/(decrease) in provision recognised in profit or loss (178) 

Increase due to Administrative Restructure (160) 

Carrying amount at 30 June (330) 

11.4 Administered contract liabilities 

A Contract Liability relates to the Authority’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the 
Authority has received consideration in advance. Contract liabilities relate to annual environment permits. The 
transaction dates occur in the initial or anniversary month of the permit and the performance obligations occurs 
evenly over the 12-month period of the permit. 

2022 Total 
$’000 

Contract liabilities  

Balance at 1 December … 

Balance at 30 June 2 314 

Revenue from performance obligations met during the current period 900 

The transaction price allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations as at 30 June 2022 is as follows: 

 2022 
$’000 

Environment permits 2 314 

100 per cent is expected to be recognised as revenue in the 2022-23 financial year. 
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11.5 Administered administrative restructuring 

For significant Accounting Policies relating to administrative restructuring please refer to Note 8.3. 

As a result of the State Service (Restructuring) Order (No 2) 2021, effective 1 December 2021, the Environment 
Protection Authority was established as a standalone independent State Authority, separate from the Department of 
Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania with existing Environment Protection Authority functions and 
activities within the Department transferred to the new Authority. 

In respect of Administered activities assumed, the net book values of assets and liabilities transferred to the 
Authority from the Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania for no consideration and 
recognised as at the date of transfer were: 

Contribution by owners  

Receivables 728 

Expected credit loss (160) 

Other receivables (transfers to the Public Account and obligations not met during the current 
period)  

 
1 334 

Contract liabilities (1 902) 

Net Administered assets (liabilities) assumed on restructure … 

 2022  
$’000 

Revenue  

Recognised by the Authority 3 020 

Recognised by the Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania  1 843 

Total revenues 4 863 

Expenses  

Recognised by the Authority 3 020 

Recognised by the Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania 1 843 

Total expenses 4 863 

11.6 Administered cash and cash equivalents 

For significant accounting policies relating to administered cash and cash equivalents refer to Note 9. 

This represents the balance of cash accounts, other than those held in the Specific Purpose Accounts, excluding 
those accounts held in a trustee capacity or agency arrangement. 

 2022  
$’000 

Cash held 53 

Total  53 
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11.7 Administered financial instruments 

(a) Risk management policies 

The Authority has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 

• Credit risk; 

• Liquidity risk; and 

• Market risk. 

The Accountable Authority has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Authority’s risk 
management framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse risks faced by the 
Authority, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 

(b) Credit risk exposures 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Authority if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations.  

The Authority does not hold any collateral or other security over administered financial assets. 

Financial 
instrument 

Accounting and strategic policies 
(including recognition criteria, 
measurement basis and credit quality of 
instrument) 

Nature of underlying instrument 
(including significant terms and 
conditions affecting the amount, timing 
and certainty of cash flows) 

Receivables  Receivables are recognised at fair value plus 
any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Trade receivables are measured at the 
transaction price.  

Credit risk in relation to debtors is managed 
through internal policies and procedures 
governing both the manner and timeframes of 
the recovery of overdue debts.  

Receivables that are neither past due nor 
impaired are considered to be of sound credit 
quality. 

The Authority offers 30-day terms of trade. 

 

Expected credit loss analysis of receivables 

The simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses is applied, which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance 
for all trade receivables.  

The expected loss rates are based on historical observed loss rates adjusted for forward looking factors that will 
have an impact on the ability to settle the receivables. The loss allowance for trade debtors as at 30 June are as 
follows: 

2022 Not past 
due  

 
$'000 

Past due 
1-30 days  

 
$'000 

Past due 
31-60 days  

 
$'000 

Past due 
61-151 

days  
$'000 

Past due 
151+ days  

 
$'000 

Total  
 
 

$'000 

Expected credit loss rate (A) 0.3% 2.6% 23.8% 29.2% 79.9%  

Total gross carrying amount (B) 1 854 174 33 221 309 2 261 

Expected credit loss (A x B)1 6 5 8 64 247 330 
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1The expected credit loss is calculated on each individual output’s revenue streams. The expected credit loss rate 
shown is based on the calculated expected credit loss/total gross carrying amount. 

(c) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. The primary market risk that the Authority is exposed to is interest rate risk. At the 
reporting date the Authority did not hold any administered interest-bearing financial instruments. 

11.8 Categories of administered financial assets and liabilities 

 2022  
$’000 

Financial assets  

Loans and receivables 2 591 

Total 2 591 

11.9 Comparison between carrying amount and net fair value of administered financial assets and 
liabilities  

Administered Financial Assets 

The net fair values of receivables approximate their carrying amounts. 

Note 12: Events occurring after balance date 

There have been no events subsequent to balance date that would have a material effect on the Authority’s Financial 
Statements as at 30 June 2022. 

Note 13: Other significant accounting policies and judgements 

Note 13.1 Objectives and funding 

The Environment Protection Authority is Tasmania’s independent environmental assessment and regulatory body. 

As a result of the State Service (Restructuring) Order (No 2) 2021, effective 1 December 2021, the Environment 
Protection Authority was established as a standalone independent State Authority, separate from the Department of 
Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania, with existing Environment Protection Authority functions and 
activities within the Department of Natural Resources and Environment Tasmania transferred to the new Authority. 

The purpose of the Environment Protection Authority is to assess and regulate developments and activities that may 
impact on environmental quality and to promote best practise and sustainable environmental management. Its goals 
are clear air, clean water, clean land, acceptable noise levels and sustainable use of resources. 

The Environment Protection Authority operates under the Environment Management and Pollution Control Act 1994 
and is an integral part of Tasmania’s Resource Management and Planning System. 

The Environment Protection Authority also promotes and facilitates the adoption of sustainability and best practise 
environmental management, to provide the community with information about the quality of the environment and to 
improve ambient environmental quality, including the remediation of historical environmental damage. 

The activities of the Authority are classified as either controlled or administered. 

Controlled activities involve the use of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses controlled or incurred by the 
Authority in its own right. Administered activities involve the management or oversight by the Authority, on behalf 
of the Tasmanian Government, of items controlled or incurred by the Tasmanian Government. 
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The Authority is a Tasmanian Government not-for-profit entity that is predominantly funded through parliamentary 
appropriations. It also provides services on a fee-for-service basis, as outlined in Notes 3.3 and 11.1. The Financial 
Statements encompass all funds that the Authority controls resources to carry out its functions. 

Note 13.2 Basis of accounting 

The Financial Statements are a general-purpose financial report and have been prepared in accordance with:  

• Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB); and 

• The Treasurer’s Instructions issued under the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2016. 

The Financial Statements were certified by the Director and Chief Executive Officer on 12 August 2022 and again on 
21 September 2022. 

Compliance with the AAS may not result in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
the AAS include requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations that are inconsistent with IFRS. 
The Authority is considered to be not-for-profit and has adopted some accounting policies under AAS that do not 
comply with IFRS. 

The Financial Statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and, except where stated, are in accordance with 
the historical cost convention.  

The Financial Statements have been prepared as a going concern. The continued existence of the Authority in its 
present form, undertaking its current activities, is dependent on Government policy and on continuing 
appropriations by Parliament for the Authority’s administration and activities. 

The Authority has made no assumptions concerning the future that may cause a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next reporting period. 

Note 13.3 Reporting entity 

The Financial Statements include all the controlled activities of the Authority. The Financial Statements consolidate 
material transactions and balances of the Authority.  

Note 13.4 Functional and presentation currency 

These Financial Statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the Authority’s functional currency. 

Note 13.5 Changes in accounting policies 

In the current year there are no new or revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board that are relevant to the Authority’s operations and effective for the current annual reporting 
period.  

The Authority has reviewed the pending Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting 
Standards Board and conclude they will not have a material impact on the Authority’s operations. 

Note 13.6 Foreign currency 

Transactions denominated in a foreign currency are converted at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 
Foreign currency receivables and payables are translated at the exchange rates current as at balance date. 

Note 13.7 Rounding 

All amounts in the Financial Statements are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars unless otherwise stated. 

  



86

EPA FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022

 

Environment Protection Authority – Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2022  

Note 13.8 Authority taxation 

The Authority is exempt from all forms of taxation except fringe benefits tax and the goods and services tax (GST). 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO). Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. The 
net amount recoverable, or payable, to the ATO is recognised as an asset or liability within the Statement of 
Financial Position. 

In the Statement of Cash Flows, the GST component of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities that is 
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is classified as an operating cash flow. 
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